NOMINATION OF HISTORIC BUILDING, STRUCTURE, SITE, OR OBJECT
PHILADELPHIA REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

PHILADELPHIA HiISTORICAL COMMISSION

SUBMIT ALL ATTACHED MATERIALS ON PAPER AND IN ELECTRONIC FORM (CD, EMAIL, FLASH DRIVE)
ELECTRONIC FILES MUST BE WORD OR WORD COMPATIBLE

1. ADDRESS OF HISTORIC RESOURCE (must comply with an Office of Property Assessment address)
Street address:1001-19 N. 5th Street (Church only; no other contributing building)
Postal code; 19123

2. NAME OF HISTORIC RESOURCE
Historic Name: St. Peter the Apostle Roman Catholic Church

Current/Common Name: Same

3. TYPE OF HISTORIC RESOURCE
Building [ ] Structure [ ] Site [ ] Object

4. PROPERTY INFORMATION
Condition: [ ] excellent good [ ] fair (] poor (] ruins
Occupancy: occupied [ ] vacant [] under construction [] unknown
Current use: Church

5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Please attach a narrative description and site/plot plan of the resource’s boundaries.

6. DESCRIPTION
Please attach a narrative description and photographs of the resource’s physical appearance, site, setting,
and surroundings.

7. SIGNIFICANCE
Please attach a narrative Statement of Significance citing the Criteria for Designation the resource satisfies.
Period of Significance (from year to year): from 1895 to 1901
Date(s) of construction and/or alteration: 1895-97; dedicated, 1901

Architect, engineer, and/or designer: Edwin Forrest Durang

Builder, contractor, and/or artisan: Frank J. Colgan and Thomas McCarty

Original owner: €ongregation, Most Holy Redeemer (Redemptorists); St. Peter RC Church
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CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION:

The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply):

(a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural
characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person
significant in the past; or,

(b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation;
or,

(c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or,

(d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or,
(e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work
has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of
the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,

(f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant
innovation; or,

(9) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved
according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; or,

(h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and
familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or,

() Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or

(i) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.
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8. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES
Please attach a bibliography.

9. NOMINATOR

Organization Date
Name with Title Celeste Morello, MS, MA Email
Street Address 1234 S. Sheridan Street Telephone 215.334.6008

Nominator [_] is is not the property owner.

PHC USE ONLY
Date of Receipt; July 23, 2019
Correct-Complete [] Incorrect-Incomplete Date: August 16, 2019
Date of Notice Issuance: August 16, 2019

Property Owner at Time of Notice:
Name: Saint Peters Roman Catholic Church

Address: 1005 N. 5th Street

City: Philadelphia State: PA Postal Code: 19123
Date(s) Reviewed by the Committee on Historic Designation: _ September 18, 2019

Date(s) Reviewed by the Historical Commission:__October 11, 2019
Date of Final Action: __October 11, 2019

Designated [ ] Rejected 12/7/18
g )
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5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

This nomination proposes to designate St. Peter the Apostle Roman Catholic Church, one building on a
larger parcel of 1001-19 N. 5th Street that currently includes the church and several buildings. The
overall parcel is bounded by W. Girard Avenue at the north, a parking lot at the south, N. 5th Street at
the west, and N. Lawrence Street at the east.

Above: The church is outlined in red, with the full property boundary outlined in white.



The boundary of the church building begins at the southeast corner of W. Girard Avenue and N. 5t
Street. The proposed boundary includes the footprint of the church, with a perimeter buffer.

Beginning at the southeast
corner of W. Girard Ave
and N. 5" st

Approx. 195’

Approx. 106’

Approx. 106’

Approx. 195’
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CIFIC BOUNDARIES OF NOMINATION:
Below is the nominated St. Peter the Apostle Roman Catholic

h in outline, as the Durang design. Presently, several ex-
ons are attached to the church's south side: an atrium,

" Shrine shop, former Shrine shop attached to the rectory's

north side, and new museum accessed through the lobby or atrium.

ker i

An official Pennsylvania Historical & Museum Commission mar-

s at the Girard Avenue/north side greenspace and reads from

its March 28, 1981 dedication:

ST. JOHN NEUMANN

Here lie the remains of the first male American saint, can-
onizeldl im 1977. Born 1811 in Bohemia, he came to the U.sS.
in 1836. A devoted Redemptorist prlest he became fourth
Bishop of Philadelphia, 1852, and set up nation's first
Catholic diocesan school system. Died, 1860.
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These two papal decrees are in the new St. John N. Neumann
Museum, adjacent to St. Peter's Church. One decree declared Ney-
mann's beatification which means that his entire life was "intensely
scrutinized by the Congregation for the Causes of Saints." The
beatification entitled Neumann to be called "Blessed." The other
decree certified Neumann as a '"Saint" because "two miracles were
ascribed to his intercession...ordinarily bs authenticated by the
Church" and then finalized in a canonization. The two medical mira-
cles attributed to Neumann were made by non-Catholic doctors.

Citation found in: The Essential Catholic Handbook. Liguori, Mis-
souri: Liguori Press, 1997, pp. 141 and 152.

The same general deflnltlons of the beatification and canoni-
zation processes may be found in other Catholic publications.



DESCRIPTION:

St. Peter the Apostle Roman Catholic Church is a Romanesque
interpretation by architect Edwin F. Durang with a basilican plan.
Constructed of Port Deposit taupe-colored granite with dark roof,
steeple and conical tops of the turrets, there is pale-colored
stone trim running horizontally across the three bays at the fa-
cade, at the round arches of the windows, sills, capitals and bases
of the piers and columns that add to a tri-colored, pleasing visu-
al. The facade on Fifth Street is wider than the sanctuary and
carries a "loggia'" where the three portals are located behind the
arches (on Fifth Street). These three entranceways lead to the
vestibule area of the church which carries the width of the facade.
The east part of the building has the unaltered apse with three
round arched windows to allow in the sun, rendering the ideal eas-
tern orientation for Roman Catholic church altars. A series of
openings encircle this apse under a semi-circular roof which has
a cross at the point where it meets with the pitched roof atop
the sanctuary.

The north side of the church has greenspace with statuary of
St. John Neumann and children to represent his role as founder of
the parochial school system. Farther to the west on this green-
space is the official historical marker from the Pennsylvania His-
torical and Museum Commission(1981.) Notable at this north side
is the rectangular addition at the northeast end. This is the
Chapel to Our Lady of Perpetual Help, a patron of the Redemptor-
ist order. Turrets with leaf-like layers on the conical tops are
remarkable on the corners of this extension which has the same
Port Deposit granite material, round arch windows and stone trim
as the rest of the building. In fact, everything on this church

coordinates and is very well-maintained by the Redemptorists.

ﬁAccompanying photographs by nominator Celeste A. Morello were
taken in July, 2019.



The entire St. Peter's Church is part of the parish complex
which occupies most of the block that extends from Girard Avnue
to George Street to the south, and from Fifth Street to Lawrence
Street. (Refer to aerial) Several additions extend from the
church's south side from the enclosed entrance to the new "St.
John Neumann Museum" between the church and school on Fifth Street
to ai lobby, then an atrium with a fountain and respite area. From
the atrium.is access to the rectory which is shown in the aerial
view as a squarish building at the southeast corner of the church.
Most of the church's south wall is obscured by these additions
which in no way detract from the original Durang design. The level
of the atrium does not interfere with the line of round arch win-

dows with stained glass that illuminate the sanctuary designed by
Durang.

St. Peter's steeple is in three main stages, beginning at the
base which rises from the behind the center bay where a statue of
St. Peter is im a niche at the peak of a gable. The base has a
horizontal band of stone that runs from the center of the north
and south round arch windows. Above this, is a more complex stage
with triplicate round arch aperatures divided by columns. Larger
aperatures--one in each of the square steeple's sides--are cen-
tered and beneath a steep, narrow gable behind which begins the
base of the hexagonal spire with the cross set upon an orb. One
of the more endearing details of this church building is the "lace-
like" stone trimmings that appear as cornices, under the roof lines
across the facade's two levels and at the exterior of the wide
vestibule. These and those textured cone-like tops of the narrow
turrets are accents, along with the rose window, carved "keys of
St. Peter" in the keystone of the facade's center archway and

majestic groups of stairs add to the awe in this constructilon.
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Peter's stone work

by Frank J. Colgan and his crew.

Verification of St.






NATIONAL SHRINE
. JoHN NEUMANN

MuseuM OPENING
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O Lord, my God, You
alone are the Holy One, You
alone are love. As St. John
Neumann hungered and
thirsted for Your holiness,
I open myself in trust and
ask You to give me what |
think | need, if You know it
is good for me. Amen.

St. JoHN NEUMANN

Foast Dau, ]murm'_u S

NATIONAL SHRINE or ST. JOHN NEUMANN
BtJohnNeumann.org T 213-627-3080




STATEMENT of SIGNIFICANCE:

St. Peter the Apostle Roman Catholic Church should have
been historically-designated decades ago as one of architect Ed-
win Forrest Durang's awesome and inspiring places to worship.
Numerous other Durang-designed churches have already been approved
by this Commissiom such as Our Mother of Sorrows, St. Francis Xa-
vier, St. Veromica, $%t. John the Evangelist, St. Charles Borromeo
and Nativity, Blessed Virgin Mary, among others. Durang's work
improved the image of Roman Catholics in 19th century Philadelphia
amidst the "New Migration" of the faithful who established the
national churches which he designed and also are certified by this
Commission: St. Mary Magdalen de Pazzi (Italian)and St. Laurentius

(Polish)along with the African Americans' St. Peter Claver's.

Rightfully overshadowing this beautiful church's design is
the gravesite of the first male saint of the United States, St.
John N. Neumann, C.Ss.R., which has been here since his death in
1860.1 As the fourth bishop of the Philadelphia (former) diocese,
Neumann's place in secular history is his formation of the paro-
chial school system and Board of Catholic Education. Neumann's
plan for each parish to have an elementary school laid the organi-
zational ‘basis for the standard parish of church, rectory for the
priests, school and convent for the teaching nuns. Neumann was
responsible for inviting scores of new religious orders to south-
east Pennsylvania, widening the presence of Roman Catholics with
buildings and land. Neumann's hope for the Sisters of St. Francis
to specialize in the care of the sick manifested from the hospitals
they foundedzto become the St.Francis Health Systemjtoday.

—
Mahoney, D., Historical Sketches of the Catholic Churches...

2Phila.: Mahoney, 1895, p. 72.

3Ibid., p. 200.

This corporgtion was recently acquired as part of the Trinity
group of mainly Roman Catholic-based hospitals in the region.
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Most of Neumann's lifeswork is more meaningful to Roman Ca-
tholics than to others. But, his ascension to sainthood should
in no way be diminished or minimized. He had been invoked to in-
tercede to God for medical cures to the incurable. In the Phila-
delphia area, Neumann was prayed to, beseeched and then miracles
which were certified by non-Catholics, were verified. The process
towards canonization in the Roman Catholic Church in the 20th cen-
tury became more technical with the scrutiny of non-Catholic medi-
cal specialists called by the Vatican to review cases for years.
Witnesses testify and the "Devil's Advocate' delves deeply to avoid
skepticism especially by non-Catholics who may regard the entire
proceés of canonization as chicanery. Neumann's case culminated
with his canonization on Jume 19, 1977 after some miracles were
attributed to his intercession. Since then, many others claim to

have been '"cured" through Neumann.

St. John N. Neumann wanted to be buried at St. Peter's and
his wish was his mortal remains to stay with his Redemptorist bro-
thers. The Shrine and new Museum to the saint are attached to the

nominated church and are apart from the Durang design.

St. Peter the Apostle Roman Catholic Church merits designation
because of America's first male saint's association with the church

which architect Durang designed.

Celeste A. Morello, MS, MA
July, 2019
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St. Peter the Apostle Roman Catholic Church...

(a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the
development, heritage or cultural characteristics of the
City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the
life of a person significant in tThe past--5T. JOHN NEUMANN

There is no need to present any iteratiomns of the life of the
American Catholic Church's first males saint: his body (or the
"shell"of it) is displayed under an altar in the basement of St.
Peter's Chﬁrch, the instant nomination. Moreover, the Shrine and
new Museum attached to the nominated property tell the story of
the life of Saint John N. Neumann, the first Redemptorist to be
ordained in the United States who would remain in his religious
order until his death in 1860. For Roman Catholics, an appreci-
ation of Neumann has the religious context of his holiness and
zeal as a missionary enduring travels through raw, undeveloped
parts of New York, Pennsylvania, Maryland and trails through other
states to minister or to convert. For the purposes of this nomina-
tion and in consideration of the Commission's position, the discus-

sion on Neumann will focus on his accomplishments for the non-Ca-

This is a copy of the
only existing photograph
of Bishop Neumann.

While bishop, he still
wore his Redemptorist

habit, as shown here.
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tholic,

Neumann's influence extended mainly from the social services
and acquisition of properties upon which the present Archdiocese
can base its power. Under Neumann, the parochial school was es-
tablished as a necessary condition in the creation of new and ex-
isting parishes. Today, non-Catholics form a significant percen-
tage within the Catholic School System. And millions of Americans
have been treated in hospitals which evolved from the Sisters of
St. Francis' hospitals which began in Philadelphia. These accom-
plishments occurred while Neumann was bishop of Philadelphia and
continue to the present. The Franciscan Sisters' Neumann Univer-
sity, was named for their founder. Numerous other schools of
higher education were founded by religious orders invited to Phila-
delphia by Saint John Neumann during his tenure from 1852 to 1860.
These schools admit non-Catholics.

NEUMANN'S ARRIVAL in PHILADELPHIA:

Bishop Francis Kenrick of Philadelphia had been appointed
Archbishop of Baltimore in 1851, leaving 102 churches and 170,000
Catholics. His successor was chosen by the pope: the superior
of the Redemptorist Ordeg in the United States, John N. Neumann.
Philadelphia had been visited by Neumann in the 1840s during the
turmoil of the Nativist Riots and he was aware that St. Peter's
Church escaped harm despite its proximity to St. Michael's Church,
which was burned to the ground just about five blocks away.

Neumann's home in Philadelphia before he became bishop was
with his Redemptorist brothers at St. Peter's, the first parish
they had founded hereﬁ

% The "Redemptorist" Order is a shortened name for the Congregation
of the Most Holy Redeemer (Latin: Congregatio S@nc$18551muﬁ Redem-
ptor, or "C.Ss.R." which appears after the clerics' names. ‘The
Order was founded in 1732 by lawyer/priest Alphonsus Liguori (d.1787).
5 Liguori is a Doctor of the Roman Catholic Church.

Mahoney, op.cit., p.70.



Map showing the original
church at the corner of N. 5™
Street and Girard Avenue. This
building is the one with which
Neumann was associated.
1858-60 Hexamer & Locher
Atlas, PhilaGeoHistory.org

Map illustrating the church
building and two affiliated
schools in 1875.

1875 G. M. Hopkins Atlas,
PhilaGeoHistory.org.



Map showing the church building and
its associated structures in 1895, just
prior to the construction of the
Durang-designed building.

1895 G. W. Bromley Atlas,
PhilaGeoHistory.org.

Map depicting the new Durang-
designed building at the corner of N.
5™ Street and Girard Avenue.

1910 G. W. Bromley Atlas,
PhilaGeoHistory.org.
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The holiness of John Neumann had been observed before he
became Philadelphia's fourth bishop of the then-diocese which
included one-half of the Commonwealth of Penmsylvania, one-half
of the State of New Jersey and all of Delaware. Neumann's vow
of poverty, his self-inflicted, regular instances of mortification
and small stature proved to be "qualities'" he overcame in continu-
ing the ascendance of Roman Catholicism and of Roman Catholics in
the diocese, especially in the City of Philadelphia where hostility
was most intense. Insofar as an administrator, Neumann's skills
exceeded Kenrick's in finalizing plans which Kenrick began or would
have recommended to be initiated.

PHILADELPHIA DURING NEUMANN'S TENURE, 1852-1860:

Many Roman Catholic institutions became organized because of
the thousands of impoverished Irish Catholics who came to Philadel-
phia in the 1840s and early 1850s, according to historian J. Mat-
thew Gallman? Politically-threatened Germans of all religious de-
nominations also arrived at the same time and in the thousands.
Their presence compromised the staid Anglo-Saxon Protestant major-
ity who blamed the rise in crime and other social ills on the new-
comers. For Roman Catholics, the effects of Nativism lingered
while abiding within the Protestant milieu. The Consolidation of
1854 was believed to resolve some problems. Scholarship on this
mid-19th century period in the city, however, often revealed some
brighter aspects of the time.

Neumann's "flock'" had a stable class of income-producers who
were greatly unselfish with their earnings in matters to support
the Church. Pressured by the alienation towards Roman Catholics
in the city, the hierarchy that was dominated by those of Irish
ancestry independently founded their own hospital, orphanages, asy-
lums for the elderly or homeless and developed funds for miscella-
neous aid. The Germans followed with their own institutions.

6Gallman, J. M., Receiving Erin's Children. Chapel Hill: University

of North Carolina Press, 2000 which was based on his doctoral dis-
sertation, examined Philadelphia's Irish Catholic migrant history
and compared it to that in Liverpool, England.
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Neumann recognized that with the diverse groups of his
city Catholics there were also linguistic hurdles. His name ap-
pears on countless Deeds in the City's Real Estate records for
properties he purchased to accommodate some groups. One example
is the land and Methodist Church Neumann purchased to found the
first Italian national parish/church in the United States: St.
Mary Magdalen de Pazzi in Bella Vista. An official Pennsylvania
Historical and Museum Commission marker credits "St. John N. Neu-
mann" and that the '"Delaware Valley's largest Italian community
became centered in this neighborhood'" when founded in "1852," (the
year when Neumann became bishop here.)7 It was an advantage that
Philadelphia's bishop was a polyglot (about 10 languages or more)

and could communicate with those who sought his help or guidance.

One of the more positive points in the mid-19th century his-
tory of the city was how industrialization rose, needed these new
arrivals' energy and that creating a life with assets was at hand.
Warner wrote of the '"mew middle class (which) did not need to put
their children to work," and instead could send them to be educated.
However, the public school system in Philadelphia, continued Warner,
was "intended...to aid the poor," which to class-conscious Phila-~
delphians who were not Catholic, was unacceptable.8 Yet, the Roman
Catholics' view on education was different and not approached as

haughty as the non-Catholics. This worked for Neumann.

This marker was placed in 1994 by the undersigned nominator at
712 Montrose Street.

Warner, Sam Bass, The Private City. Phila.: Univ. of Penna. Press,
1996 edition, p. 66. Warner provided his own editorial context in
the footnote and went further to discuss how complex the mid-19th
era was that led to the Consolidation. However, Warner did not ad-
dress the Roman Catholic bloc which was in part responsible for many
institutional changes in the city. This void in scholarhsip_was1}a—
ter published by Dennis Clark in his The Irish in Philadelphia which
was printed by Temple University's Press within rive years o§ War-
ner's work at Penn in 1968. Clark had found that migrant Irish
were able to purchase rowhouses within a few years of settlement.
(p. 54). Warner wrote only on the average (native) Philadelphian's
ability to enter the middleclass and be able to afford homes.
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The parochial school disavowed (in theory) class distinctions
and focussed on religious education in order to be good citizens.
The Archdiocese of Philadelphia's Catholic Directories hold a ra-
ther good record of the growth of schools specializing in Catholic
education and taught by religious. 0ld St. Mary's Interparochial
School in Society Hill was founded in "1782" for children whose
parents wanted them to learn the basics of reading, writing and
some mathematics. The schools were called "Literary Institutions"
and numbered 6 for boys and 5 for girls in 1851, while Kenrick was
still in charge. "By 1853, the number of parochial schools grew
from 6 to 41" under Neumann. Eventually, "Literary Institutions”
was replaced by the words, "Parochial Szhools™ in the Catholic
Directories. Text books for Catholic students opened a new indus-
try for printers and publishers for a new consumer: the Catholic
school pupil. Many other products developed for the Catholic student.

Neumann wanted parochial schools in each parish, and the
school building was to be separated from other buildings. (This
dictum was not thoroughly followed with struggling parishes such
as St. Joan of Arc, founded in 1920 which had a church-school com-
bination until 1947.) Neumann's Redemptorists at St. Peter's bhegan
"one of the first schools" in Philadelphia in "1853"1%y following
Neumann's plan and constructed a school building. (The St. Peter's
School still continues as one of the longest-running parochial

schools in the nation. It accepts non-Catholics.)

Earlier attempts to organize the "parochial school" pointed
to St, Elizabeth Seton, but the contemporary documentation credit-

ing Neumann is irrefutable as is how he developed the plans, oversaw
and presided as head of the Board of Catholic Education.

9 .
Morello, C.A., Beyond History: The Times & Peoples of St. Paul's
Roman Catholic Church, 1843-1993. Phila.: Jefferies & Manz, 1992,
p. 56 citing the Catholic Directories of 1851, 1852 and 1853.

loMahoney, op.cit., p. 72.
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The "01d" St. Peter's architectural style aligned with Napo-
leon LeBrun's St. Augustime and St. Philip Neri churches, in the
early 1840s
when the Fed-
eral Style pre-
vailed as the

medieval Gothic
and Romanesque
slowly began

to be used in
ecclesiastical

architecture,

This was the
St. Peter's
Church which
St. John Neu-
mann knew, the
first church
completed in
1845, but not
dedicated until
1847.

What is very
important in
this photograph

is the school

building on th®e
right--one of
the first paro-
chial schools

in the nation.

OLD ST. PETER’S CHURCH.
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The parochial school formed by Neumann was parish-based,
with emphasis on religious education, an equilizer among the eco-
nomic classes. Historian Dennis Clark characterized what Neumann
created as the "parish and school network" which "represented a
great social and financial investment in group solidarity and
tradition." e Neumann concept of the "parish" later would
identify many Philadelphia neighborhoods.

NEUMANN'S INFLUENCE in SOCIAL SERVICES:

The parochial schools' need for teachers was resolved with
more of the religious teaching orders coming to the city. Most
of these orders' members took vows of poverty and therefore, could
not independently earn income--everything was communal, i.e., sha-
red with their order. St. Peter's parish claimed to be "ome of
the first schools in the city," Opening in 1853 (under Neumann)
and staffed by the Christian Brothers who later would found La-
Salle University and other colleges throughout the nation. The
Sisters, Servants of the Immaculate Heart of Mary (or "THMs) also
answered Neumann's call to come to Philadelphia. Immaculata Uni-
versity named a town in Chester County and the nuns taught, to
date, about 8 generations in the region.

The religious order established by Neumann, the Sisters of
the Third Order of St. Francis of Philadelphia expanded beyond
education, although Neumann University today is one of the top-
rated institutions in the area. As early as 18953, Neumann's
lepacy with these nuns was published to state that it was ''his
wish" for the nums to '"devote themselves...(to the) care of the
sick." The Sisters would rum St. Mary's Hospital and 5t. Agnes'

the former "Burm Center," and have charge of St. Joseph's Hospital.

11Clark, op.cit., p.99.

12Mahoney, D., Historical Sketches of the Catholic Churches....
Phila.: 1895, p.72.

131bid., pp.200-201.
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In the 19th century, these hospitals were highly-regarded
and the Sisters were able to hire many esteemed doctors and sur-
geons such as William W. Keen who pioneered im neurological work
during the Civil War, and William Keating. These hospitals pro-
vided specialized care to all, despite lack of ability to pay.
What remains of these hospitals today is the St.Francis' Health
System and the Sisters of St. Francis' Motherhouse in Aston, De-

laware County.

Numerous biographies have been written since Neumann's ca-
nonization on June 19, 1977 at the Vatican. One of the miracles
attributed to Neumann was a cure from cancer which was scrupulously
reviewed in the then-6 year old Michael Flanigan from West Phila-
delphia.1 Prior to the canonization, Neumann underwent careful
study by the Congregation for the Causes of Saints to be declared
"Blessed" until the last stage(s) in the canonization are complete
to be declared "Saint." 1In 1977, Neumann attained distinction as
the "first male Roman Catholic saint," and the second in the nation
after St. Frances Cabrini. However, more American maleéi%re now
in open causes for cancnization while Neumann continues to act as

intercessor, with more miracles to his credit than before.

Saint John N. Neumann, C.Ss.R. is the holy "little bishop"
who chose to rest at St. Peter's Church. His association with St.
Peter's and the love for him by his Redemptorists and others are an
asset to this city; to come to see St. Peter's is to see St. John
Neumann and to contemplate on what he left to us.

Keen, along with S.Weir Mitchell and Morehouse were pioneers in the

study and specialization of neurology here from their treatments of
Civil War wounded at The Christian Street Hospital and other sites.

Archdiocesan Staff,Our Faith-Filled Heritage,2007, p. 110.

Other male candidates for canonization from the U.S. are: Fulton
Sheen, Neumann's associates Bishop Brederic Baraga and Francis Seelos:

Mazzuchelli, McGivney, Price, Tolton and Toussaint--all late 18th
and 19th century religious.
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Architect Edwin F. Durang's design of the new (and present)
St. Peter the Apostle Church was in consideration of "Venerable"
John Neumann's remains which the image (below) stated were under
the apse. The "Souvenir" publication to memorialize this new
church with the fully renovated interior extending its "re-open-
ing" to 1901 indicated that John Neumann was on his path towards
sainthood, which would not finally happen until 1977.

Ia

7 _

EXTERIOR VIEW OF THE SANCTUARY OF ST, PETER'S CHURCH,
BENEATH WHICH REST THE REMAINS OF

VENERABLE BISHOP NEUMANN,
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Image of Durang (left) is
from the "Souvenir" publi-
cation which also reprinted
photographs of the '"014"
church of St. Peter's to
compare that Federal Style
that was still popular in
the 1840s with the Durang.

E. F. DURANG,
Archjitect,

1200 CHESTNUT ST, PHILADELPFPHIA,

8T. PETER's CHURCH, FIFTH AXD GIRARD AVENUE, PHILA.
24
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Architect Edwin F., Durang was working contemporaneously
on St. Francis Xavier Roman Catholic Church (below, left in Arch-
diocesan image) while he was at St. Peter the Apostle in 1895.
In fact, Durang used the same building material, the Port Deposit
granite for both churches which are also in the same Romanesque
Style and with the stone trim. The advertizement is from Durang's
"Album" with his subcontractors, and a "Who's Who" in the profit-
able ecclesiastical art, fixtures and furniture industry.

McCrevauan GraniTE COMPANY

Main Qnice and Cuarries af
PORT-DEPOSIT, MD.

PORT-DEPOS
GRANITE

FOR CHURGCHES AND FINE HOUSES

LUsed in the following Churches and Pavockial Buildings:

Balfimore, Md.: St. Pasl, St Patrick

Lsopus, N, V.o The Academy of the Redemptionists Fathers

Washington, . C.; St. Thomas, Foundry

Erie, Pa.; 5t Patrick

I'%fla Nova, Pa.: Convent and Coliege

Philedeiplin - 3r, Peters, St. Francis Xavier, St. Gregory, 8t Edward
the Coufessor, St Johkn the Evangelist, and many others.

Philadelplia Opices
805 Pennsylvania Building, 15th and Chestnut Streets
L. W. KENDERDINE, Selecman
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St. Peter the Apostle Roman Catholic Church....

(e) is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect
or designer, or engineer whose work has significantly
influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social
or cultural development of the City, Commonwealth or Nation.

The work of Edwin Forrest Durang (1829-1911) dominated the
Archdiocese of Philadelphia under the leadership of Archbishop
Patrick J. Ryan (1882-1911). Durang's biographical informationm
is limited to Tatman and Moss' seminal worK ‘as well as the com-
pilation of primary sources and public records in a self-published
book by Durang's granddaughter, Edwina Hare. His drawings have
not been saved and his thoughts and personal writings are unknown
and non-existent. But, the extensive number of buildings left inclu-
ding this nomination of St. Peter's, establish Durang as the pre-
eminent ecclesiastical architect for the Archdiocese in the late
19th century and first decade of the 20th century.

This Commission has already recognized several Roman Catholic
churches designed by Durang that are on the Philadelphia Register:
St. John the Evangelist; St. Peter Claver; St. Laurentius; St.
Francis Xavier; St. Veronica; Our Mother of Sorrows; Immaculate
Conception; Nativity, BVM; and St. Charles Borromeo. These desig-
nated churches set precedents for why this nomination by Durang
should also be officially '"historical” and listed on the local
Register of Historic Places.

Verifying that Edwin F. Durang was the architect of St. Peter's
is certain from public sources and the Redemptorist clergy who
commemorated the "Re-Opening of St. Peter's Church" in a publica-

tion dating from 1901. The latter clarified why such an undertak-

Full citation: Tatman, Sandra and Moss, Roger, Biographical Dic-
tionary of Philadelphia Architects. Boston: Hall & Co., 1985.
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ing of "entirely and completely remodel and renovate both the
exterior and the interior of the church" began when Durang was
retained in the spring of 1895}8'The publication held a photo-
graph of the "Old" St. Peter's Church which was the one where
St. John N. Neumann said Mass and prayed. This building was to
be for Durang, a matter of constructing a different church atop
the foundation and framework of the "old," massive church. The
commission required demolition of the old wooden cornices and
"steeple trimmings'" and the facade's stairs. All of the brick
of this building was to be torn down and carted away. The new
church by Durang was of stone and Port-Deposit granite laid by
Frank J. Colgan. (See page 6 herein.)

Durang's churches generally arose as new structures on foun-
dations whose excavations he supervised. At St. Peter's, Durang
planned to extend the facade's stairs to "17 feet" towards Fifth
Street and on a newly dug foundation. A detailed description of
this project was on the front page of the Builders' Guide for
June 5, 1895, including the construction costs of "35,000.00"
which would cease upon completion by 1897}9(Refer to Appendix.)

The Tatman and Moss page of Durang's work for '1895" includes
projects in New Jersey and a rather full calendar of commissions
with parochial schools in construction. Saint John N. Neumann,
when bishop, had organized a Board of Catholic Education to com-
plete the standard parish complex of church-rectory-convent-school
in the then-diocese. Durang designed these types of buildings as

well, each requiring different specifications and interior plans.

"Souvenir of the Re-Opening of St. Peter's Church, 1842-1901."
Catholic Historical Research Center, Philadelphia, p. 43.

Philadelphia Real Estate Record and Builders' Guide, June 5, 1895,
Tatman and Moss, op.cit., p. 232.
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Durang was 66 years old when he designed the new St. Peter's.
His career as "architect" was recorded from 1865 after continuing
the architectural firm begun by John E. Carver, under whom Durang
initially trained and became exposed to the specialty of "ecclesi-
astical" architecture.z1 Roman Catholic buildings outnumber the
Protestant ones in Durang's resume, according to those found by
Tatman and Moss. What is important is that Durang had a very
good relationship with Archbishop Ryan. During Ryan's tenure,
"national' churches arose for Germans, Italians, Lithuanians and
Poles as well as for African Americans at St. Peter Claver's. In
addition, Durang was hired by more religious orders who were in-
vited to serve in the archdiocesan parishes as missionaries, tea-
chers, medical professionals in the hospitals he would design and
the social outreach institutions, such as the orphanages, asylums,
industrial schools and ancillary buildings. Ryan developed more
social welfare organizations than his predecessors, but he also
relished how Durang created interiors just as beautiful as his
exteriors with carved moldings, columns, coffered ceilings and
artwork by Lorenzo Scattaglia. Subjectively-speaking, Durang's

churches held spectacular work that was unmatched.

The Redemptorists' publication wrote that "(M)any of the pa-
rishioners, among whom the business men figured' wanted their
church renovated. St. Peter's is a German national parish, i.e.,
the German language was spoken by the clergy for the convenience
of the German-speaking parishioners. Durang was also working on
the German national church in Bridesburg, All Saints at the same
time, which would have connected parishioners in both parishes.
The St. Peter's group seemed not only pleased with Durang's work
for the exterior, but the architect was retained for a new design
for the interior.S(Refer to images from "Souvenir" booklet.)

2l1pid., p. 229.

2siNational" parishes are based on use of the foreign language of
23

the majority of parishioners at the founding,
"Souvenir," p. 47.
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The Durang-designed St. Peter's was be " a most suitable
dwelling for the God of Infinite Majesty'" and today, the aura and
wonder of the interior can be seen in historically-accurate colors,
Painted images of celestial beings occupy each of Durang's geo-
metric figures on the ceiling of the sanctuary, with the stained
glass windows' colors in accord. An interior decorator could not
do better in exquisiteness and appropriateness. One cannot feel
but inspired to pray in this sanctuary which has changed little
since Durang's plans were carried forth by "Mr. Dietrich, a mem-
ber of the parish."25

Edwin F. Durang had a few years left to design more churches
and other buildings for the Archdiocese. He then died the same
year as his patron, Archbishop Ryan, in 1911, leaving some pro-
jects to be completed by his son, Ferdinand.

What is so wonderful about Durang's designs is that they
are successful in causing the on-looker to emote in a positive,
spiritual way. He apparently knew how Roman Catholics "offered
to God" their best of each day, a sentiment that has since gone
with the decline of religious instruction. Durang's work held
the same intent as those medieval workers who labored to hoist
heavy stone, or sculpt at heights, or do the arduous jobs :during
all types of weather or conditions: sacrifices in the Name of
God. This seems to be why Durang was so well liked by Ryan and
other clergy at the time. The architect may also have realized
that his work at St. Peter's was attached to the spirit of one

who had already been positioned for a formal declaration of "saint."
For so many reasons, Durang and what he created at St. Peter's
deserve historical designation by this Commission.

Celeste A. Morello, MS, MA
July, 2019

55 "Souvenir,' op.cit., pp.43;47.
Ibid., p. 47.
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Estimates are belng offered on the drawinrgs
foru sluble for Muj. Breot, al Overbrrock, inthe
office of Jacob Myres, Thirteenth and Locust
Streews. Plans by Boyd & Boyd, scelilools.
1346 Chestuut S1rzet, and hizve been noted in
this jenrnal previously,

The Committce ca Architreture haa been
appeinted by Lthe Tirst Melhodist Episcopal
Church of Cermantawn, to sestle on a plan for
a vew chureh g ructure w bo crecled un the old
Champion proversy, cormer of (ireen Stroel
ancl Waluut lave, and to cost sbeul 3190,000,

It is understood the wmansion of W. L.
Ltkios,-on North Broad Street, is tobaenlarired
eovering the triangular plos of ground to the
North. The oviginal drawings wore made by
W. Bleyden Powell, architect, who at presgnt
i3 the gupereisor of the Poblic Buildings ond
will prepare the plans lor the proposed ex-
fension,

Tilus & Toberts, architects, 132 Bouih
Fourth Street, have made plans [ur allermtios
1o Interjor of the house of Jos. Edward Mur-
ray, 147 Wost Suzquehsnnn Avenne, including
a very ornamental mantie-picce of wmarble and
mahogany, and ganeral detail worlk, Contracts
uneot let. Also drawings for the Manley Mome-

sbead b Media, this will inelnde » genaral ro.
building of exterior and interior eleetric work,
hot water heat and finess of sanivary piumbing,
hard wood findslh, and all general accommo-
dations, Estimates on the laster are being
made,

Hales, Brinkworth & DBallinger, architects
and mill engineers, are receiving bids for the
ereotion of a one-story hrick dye houss, 140 x
30 feet, tor Powell & Dro., hesicry meznu-
faoturera, northeast eomer of Twemty-clphth
and Pavrigh Streets, and also for a one.story
brick storage warehouse, 35 x 65 feet, as an ad-
diticu to the same plaul.  Istimules close io-
dzy at their office for the erection of 2 four-
story Urlek property, 20 x 110 fest, for . 1.
Matthews & Co., glazed kid manufacturers, St.
Jobn and Willow Suroets. Tt will have Jissvy
plank and asphaly floors, elevators, steam heat
and all moder: applinncee.  Previously noted
in Full.

F. A, Gugert, arehileel, Wayue, Del Co.,
Ta., bas drawn pians for two separnte buildings
for ithe Wayne Naetsturimn Assveiation, Oue
will be fitled for ludies” department whilst the
other will bs for gentlemen, each belug fitded
wih loelhory, clesets, aud all convestiences,
pool for swinvwing and gyrmnasinm, Janitors'

guariers and a ¢lub oo are glse inclwded in

the construetion.  Fatimates aro being uskedf
on Lhe work, Smme architect bas made Blans
fora catrage for J. A, Pailey, st Cape May,
N.T.

Iha pluns by Harol:dl Goadwin, arehiteck, 905
Walnuz Strest, for a house to be creeted by
Mr, Chas. J. Milier, at Filteenth Slreel aml
Allegheny Avenue, arc on hoaerds for estimate
by coniraetors,  As noted provivasly i lbis
Jonrnal the drawings contemyplate a three-story
struetue, brick and stone, slete roof, cou-
sideralily galvanived rom work, leaded aud
plate glass windows awd doors, interlor to be
fitted wiih cleelric work, sleam heat, and gas
heaters, fine mantles, wardrohes, and siling,
Dulbs and tavalories, ranges and kivehen fix-
tures, ete. Contract will be awarded at an
vatiy duy,

Gee T. ’earson, architect, 427 Walnnt Screct
bhave somplefed the drawings far the St
Margaret’s llume tor Girls to be erected on
crovnd awned by 8. Taka's P. B. Church,
The Lailling will be of the Tudor Gothicstyle,
threc stories and basewcent, 58 x 36 tect,
Leiperville slone will e uged for the wolls and
the windows will e mulliooed with Indiauna
flmestons  On the fusl fvor there istolea
patler and reception, clergy and malron's
ropmz, an oratory, & refectory, kitohen andg
pantry, Thesscond and third fieors will ba
used as dormitories, about twenty bed rooms
being oullined, cod she third floor will alse
have a number of stovage rooms.  Bever
Daths will De localed on Lbe Lwo upper fluo
In the bagewmens witl be auother kitehen, st
heating plant zmd storevovins,

Leing made on the work in offices of
CONErartors.

.,
@
o

¥. F. Durang, architnet, sontheast corner
Twelluh sod Chestuut 3irests, has preparad
plans for extensiveimpravements to S, Deter’s
Roman Uatbolle {hureh, FPifth Street and
Giraid Aveose, that will male it praciieally a
new strastare,  The presons front will be torn
down, znd a new frons of Poru Depusit or
Avondale atons will ba balle nut 17 feet to the
Untldiug fine, escloging lhe thiree separste
flights af steps to the main entrances. Arvchod
tloorways and ornamental windows, gables and
pinunacies at the Jewer front of the tower, sur-
maanzed By erosses, amd above these the clack
Luwer, with gables tipped Dy liniads, the wholo
surmenntm] by an ornamental copper gnire

rising 223 Leet w the top of (ke erass, will

make the stracture steik’ngly bandsome. The
iimproveimunts will edsb aboul  $35,000. Tt

is intended azsome future time Lo replavs Lhe
Tirfrle phle wells with slons, and make 1bem

conforny in gtyle with the gauveral appezrance

~of the front.

The congregation of the Dden Methodist
Chureh id to have a large now edifico, to bo
eraclbed on Lhe Lol at Leligh Avonue, Orkney
and Lawrence Streets, the plans for which are
Wing mado by Arvhileel Gladstone Holm,
The gtrociure, as now contemplated, i3 to be
ol brownstone, 100 x 90 feet, wilh & lower six-
teen fect square rising to a haight of &5 feet,
through whivh will e the enbruneo to the
e din awdiorium.  This latter will have a seat-
tngr eapenity of about RBOU, the roof of open
hammer beam construetion, the entire interior
finfshed In yellow pine. A gallory will extend
avoand three sides of the main churel builde
ing. The rear of tha hailding will ho twa
s uries, tho first loorbeing devoted to a lecoure-
roo m to reeo nmodate abant 350 and an infants?
class.room holding 230, Ou the second flocr
will b3 the Sunday-sclhiaol room to eeromma-
dalo aboal 80% pupils and tewchers,  The
entire structure is estimated $o cost about
$30,000.

John T, Windrim. avchitect, 107 Walnut
Streer, has completed the plune for the new
Twentieth District wpolice patrol and fire
station, to be built at 258 and 237 North ¥Fif
teenth St, and they are now in the possession of
Chief Tisenhower, of the DBurean of Cliy
Troperty. They provide for a building of
ornamental front of monlded Bricks and gran-
ile srimmings, with a [rontage of 38 leet on
Fifteenth Strect, and o depth of 102 feet 7
inghes. The police station, threestorivs higl,
will oceupy the frons of the Jot to 2 depth of
100 fect, The Lirgy flour will vontain a recep-

" i room, the Heutenant's oiffice and bed room,

a rergeant’s room and the felographoers’ and
Lesring rooms.  In the rest will be five cells,
O the seeond tleor will be the dormitories for
a0 men, and the recrention room, store LooOm
and matron’s quarters will uss np 2il tho space
on the npper doors.  The fire and pateol hiouse
will he located on the rear end of the iot, the
two deparbinents separvatsd on the lowwer Hoor
by 2 brick partition. Exit from the house to
angwer alarms will e by a 10.Luek wide runway
cxtending along the sides of the police station.
The first foor of the patrol siztion will have
aoeoniaodations for fowr horses, two off and
hwo on, and the fire house fur 2 like number of
borses, 4 four-wheel hose wagon and the
engine,  Ouo the seeond fluor will ha the dor-
miturios Tor 12 e aud e reervslion rooms.
The vost of the lot was §32,500, and vhe appre-
printion for ibe house e $40,000. Estimales
are being made ou the work noted in thig jour-
nal in & previvus lssue,
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Arohitests? 'Nntes

Architeota Hales & Ballinger have awarded
the contract for the erection of a paper-box
mannfaciory for Willamy P, Tatz & Brother,
at the northeast corner of Sixth and Mulberry
Sirentr, to Tohn 3. Anderaon. The building
will be of slow-burning coustruction, live
stnvies and hasement, wirh mottled hrink front
and redstone trimmings, equipped with a 73-
horse-power boiler, antowatio onging, steam-
Lyating and electrie-light system, clavators,
ete. The work was nated in this journal, issue
of July 101k,

Clarence Garduoer, avchitect, Gwynedd, Pa.,
has mada plana for enfire alteration to froms
and interior of 2144 46 Green Sireel, Tyr (he
Mesars, J. B, and A. T.. Pennock, 305 Walnat
BStreet, The [ront will be ornamental in de-
sign, with Pompeiizn brick, dark and light
colored, znd slone arches, plate glase windows
and doora with iron grille wetk over the
furmer, Lhe interivr will contuiu every modern
convenience and comfnrt, Sub-contrarters are
now olfering eetimates on the worle in oilice
of the ovrers.

Robeson 1., Perot, atchitect, Haseliino
Building 1410 Chesluul Strvel, hus made pluna
for alteration and addition to the P. E. Blephen
Church =zl Wissahickon. Thuse conlempluta
a new chancel choir room, .vestry roowm, and
gonaral repaira eto.  Alse plens for alteralions
1o 3 house at Gennantown chiefly exterior
work, stono and pobblednsbed  work, ol
3Mr, Terot h.s drawings made for alterations
to & honge at Downingtown, Pa. Plans ars
being made fur a tine bouse in Qermamown
which will be noted in future.

Building and Real Estate Notes,

J, C, Moore, Jr., will soon start the conatrue-
tion of alne vosily dwellings on the uerth side
.of Spruce Btreet east of Foruy-first Btrook.
Plang in detall ore now bolug wwede for Lhe
work.

Willlam L, Elking, Jr., bas purchasod =
seven.acre iract of lund near OUgontz from’
Tatonll Jackson for §58,000.

Tho confract for the construstion of an ad.
ditional slory o Lhe Women's Hospital, at
Fortisth and Parrish Streets, has boen awarded
lo I, C, Baltinger & Co.

Hayes Movdenball, conlractor, 4017 Wallace
Bereat, i estimating on a store Duilding 8920
Markel Stroel, and hus ssked sub-contractors
for bids on detail work.

Four large three-story brick dwellings, onch
24 x 40 foel, with baek aud [roul porches, ara
to be started at once on the gouth side of Ash-
land  Avenue, botweon Filly-seventh and
Fifyy-eighth Btrests, by Contractor Joseph T3,
Artlur,

Contractor K, 1. Cooper has tsken oul o
perwit for the construction of Mizpab Bapuist
Chureb, s the soubbhwest curner of Thirly-Grst
and Diamond Streets, The edifice is to b
Dbuilt of Delawars eounty gray stons and will
Ve G0 x B0 feet.

Buperintendent Ilretz, of the Mint has stated
that he expacia the plana for the mew miut
structure to be ready by Awugust lst, Their
errival In thiz olty will not then Do lobg
delayed, and the contracts will be awarded as
speedily as posaible.

Plang were submittad to the Burean of
Building Tuspsciors for the ercetion of Miz-
pah DBapuist Chureh at  the sonthwost comier
of Thirty-first and Diamond Streets on the
1ot boetween the chapol and the Strect. Work
wiil starl 2l vuce and has been fully noled in
previond [asuo of this joiurnal,

Boilder James 7. Winehell has begun the
construction ol eight three-story buil brick
dwellings, each 16 x 52 feeh, with very large
yords, vonluining eaclt 286 square feeb of uir
space. They will be put up on the gouth side
nf Lehigh Avenus vast of Thirlistl Streel, sl s
cost oxceeding 220,000,

PBullder George W. Bhorman will breek
ground for two important dwelling operations.
The firat oomprlses thirteon two-story briek
dwelliugs, each 14.9 x 41 feeb, on the east side
of TFifry-secondand.one-half Surocl between
Modia snd Warren 8ireets, The cost of the two
operadions wilt exnecd 343,000,

Heonry G, Sebuwlis & Son luve slarted {wo
dwelling  operstions in  the 'Twenty-eighth
Wurds,  The OGm$ s for three Lhreo-story
dwellings, eash 16 x 57 fest. on the nerith side
of Ontarie Ssrons oast of Filteenth Strosl, and
a three-story brick dwelling, 18 x 57 feet, a2t
tho nworehwoest norner Carllslea and  Ountario
Burects.

Extonsive 1epalrs to olditerate the demage
vaunsed by the recenk fire ab she jewelry eslab-
lishment of Bailey, Banka & Blddle hes been
slarted.  Cenurzetor 5. B, MacDowell secored
a permit covering tho work, which includes the
remuval of Lhe msusscd roof which will bo

maplaceid by a thirteon-inah hrick wall,. The
estimated cost of the repairs 33 placed at €500D,

Hugh Gaynor, owner, will bresk greund to-
day for tho erection of five two-story brick
dwellings, 10 x 44 feet, on the north side of
‘Wharton Strect above Tw enty-elghth -and for
2 two-story store and dwelling, 17 x BQ-feet, at
tho nerthwest corner of Newkirk and Yharton
Strects. They will cost zhout 28000, £ build.

Work has commenced on tho alterations to
8¢, Petor’s Churoh, at Fifth Strapt and Girard
Avonue. The high steps are to be talken away
and so cntlra new frone bulit out to the balld.
ing line. The wooden e¢ornices and sleople
trimmings ars also to be replaced by -copper
ounes, and thoe enbire place much renovated.
The work will eost $42,000.

Seots Mothodist Rpiscepal Church, Rev 8.
G. Groves, Pastor, bas decided to maka alters-
tions and enlargemonts to the Sunday-schaol
roows, ‘The sealisg capacily of Lhe infmul
department will be increased aboub 100, A
recoss will be added 1o the roar of the Dbuild-
Ing, with ventitators in the roof, and the pulpit
revuss will also be romodelod,

Buitlder W. (. Serrlll has started thres
dwelling  operstions, The work sommenced
includes two three-siory brick dwelliogs at ihe
wortheast corper of 'Thirty-second and Wit
Sureets, twelve two-story briek dwellings on
the south side of Wilt Streel easi ol Thivty-
second Street, and twelve similar dwellings on
thoe nerth aide off Morse 8breet, susl of Thircy-
second Street,

Allen 3. Itorke has begun the erection of =z
10-story snpox tu the Aldine, on Chesinut
Street above Nineteenth Btreet. Itis to have
a {frontago of 51 feet 8] Inches and o dapth. of
230 feet B4 inebes. The building will be cou-
strocted with an fror framowork, wlth brick
wulls, ornamented with stone and terra cotls
work, Tt will cont £325,000 and hes already
Leon fully described,

Builder J. . Hillyer hag hogan the con-
straetion of fourtesn bandsomes dwellings to,be
srected on Wayne Avenune and Manheim
Stresl, Germantown. Seven of them will have
Port Deposit stone fronts snd others press
briek fronts alterualivg, EFaeh wiil be three
guories, 18 z B5 feet, with French maunsard
roofa and dormor wlodnws. ‘The cost of the
operation will exceed $55,000 and will nos be
commenced uatil Augeat 25th,

Gibson & Co., operative builders, are about
ereeting threo three.siory houses on tho caac
side vl Thirly-fourlth Street, north of Chestout;
four thres-story dwellings on the north side of
Chestnut Street, oast of Foriy-fifth, and five
on the south side of Ludlow 3troot, east of
Forly-fifth. The bhouses will be fnished in
hardwood throughount and fornished with all
the latest improvemenls, Gibson & Co, have
zlse under way fifty three-story houses ab
Porty-cighth Slreel and Beltfmors Aveudo sad
Forty-fourth and Locust Streats,






0 HISTORICAL SKETCHES.

ST. PETER'S, 1842.

J’UH‘T ten )'curs 'xl’tur l]u.- -1rrivn] of the ﬁr-‘-t Rcdcmptorist I"nt!lers in the

-v-w::'-:u-_—x

way Fuunde by_thun

It was in the year 1832 that three Redemptorist Fathers came from
Vienna to America in response to the urgent requuest of the American Bishops,
Their names were Revs, Simon Sanderl, Irancis Hatscher and Francis
Tschenhens, with whom came three lay brothers. As true sons of St
Alphonsus, their hearts were glowing with zeal for the"redemption of souls.
The German Catholics were the most neglected in the United States, and
therefore the harvest was large, but the Iaborers few.  The three Fathers had
{o be separaled from one another, one going to Ohio, one among the French
in Michigan, and the third among the Indians out West. They met three
years later on the feast of the Most [Holy Redeemer in 1835,  Their poverty
wis such that the three lay brothers had to work as laborers in order to eam
their daily bread, Three years Iater (wo Fathers arrived on the shores of the
Atlantic from Vienna, but were also, on account of their great poverty, obliged
to live separately, The Tathers who had first arrived were so discouraged
that they had resolved to leave America.  Fatlier Hatscher retumed to Vienna
in 1837, because the purpose that brought them over, which was to give mis-
sions, they could not carry out under such unfavorable circumstances,

To their greatest joy Divine Providence opened a large field for them,
which was the care of the German Catholics in the Eastern States of the
Lmon T he number of G«.rm.ms was Iur"c, and among them were o Er_r.at

United Shus only Lw elv e. In th Bencdlctma., l'r'mc15can, C'\puchm and
Jesuit orders the Germans were also few in number,

In a few years the Redemptorist Order founded many flourishing German
congregations in the Enstern cities and held missions at so-called stations out
of which have sprung other congregations,  Their missionary labors are so
extensive that within the last twenty-five years al least a hundred missions a
year are given to German, Irench or English-speaking flocks.

Go- gle
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Until the year 1842 there was only one German Catholic congregation in
this city, that of Holy Trinity, at Sixth and Spruce Streets.  As at that time
the pumber of German-speaking Catholics who were settled uptown was
considerable, and Holy Trinity Church so distant, those among them who
wanted to practise the duties of their religion eamestly appealed to Right
Rev, F. P. Kenrick, then Bishop of Philadelphia, for permission to erect
new cburch, and to send them a pastor. Bishop Kenrick readily consented,
under the condition that fifty men who were in favor of the appeal should
sign the same. The only obstacle now was the scarcity of German priests
therefore Bishop Kenrick referred his 5upplsc:mts to the head of the Redemyp-

lorist OIder in the bmln.d Smles \:ry _Rev, Fat Iather :\chander Cu‘ilkovlcz
third of the cost of the building., The Bishop himself expecled nioney from
Vienna for the German missions in America.

Rev. Father Rumpler, who was head of the Redemptorist Order during
the absence of Father Alexander, gave permission in_1842 for the purchase

_of 2 lot on the southesst comer of Fifth Street and Girard Avenue for the
“sui of & of $i7,000. At the close of 1842 Rev. Father Cartuyvels was chosen
first pastor, and by him two of the frame structures which were standing on
the lots purchased were used, one as a temporary church and the other as a
pastoral residence. The oldest members of the congregation can still remem-
ber when these were completed by the day’s work, and how they hurried to
give a helping hand to the digging of the cellars for the buildings, On the
15th of August, 1843, the corner-stone of the church was laid and the edifice

was placed under the patronage of St. Peter, though the frst intention had
been to eall it St. Paul’s.

The sum received from Vienna was $4,000. When in the year 1843
Rev. George Beranck succeeded the two Fathiers who were first stationed at
5t Peter’s, one only six weeks and the other but two months, the congrega.
tion numbered 200 members, who were very poor.  We find in the records of
the church that the first Sunday collection amounted to $1.40. The number
of pupils was only 100, who were instructed by lay teachers. Rev, Father
Beranek was the one who laid the corner-stone of the church, and it is gratu.
fully recalled that oo members of St. Michael’s Church helped in digging
the foundations, being led to this by their pastor with the remark : ¢ 8t Peter
is building his church, and if they offer him a helping hand now he will not
forget them when they will knock at the gate of heaven, and will let them
in more readily,’”” Rev. Father Beranck was removed te Rochester afier a
stay of only seven months,

In spite of the fact that the new congregation only numbered zoo adult
members, the construction of a schoolhouse was at once commenced, In the
year 1844 Rev. Joseph Fey was chosen rector and remained until 1848.

When in the year 1844, through the so-called Native American party, all
foreigmers, and especially the Cathiolics, were persecuted, and St. Michael's

Go: sgkf
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and St. Augustine’s churches were destroyed by fire, St. Peter's was left
uninjured, but it had to be guarded through day and night.

The church was finished on December 29, 1345, and dedicated and
opened for worship on Iebru'u'y 14, 1847, after its interior had been fittingly
decorated, Soon afier a mission was held in it by the Redemptorist Fathers,
which was productive of a rich harvest of spiritual fraits,

In the year 1848 Rev. L, Coudenhove was chosen rector, and in the same
year the Sisters of Notre Dame took charge of the girls’ school. The Clms-
tian_Brothers began_their labors in | the boys' school in the )c’lr_!i:;_‘;_ and
made it one ot' of the first schools in “The ¢ city. In that year also Rev. B. Bayer
was chosen rector, but he died in the following year, and Rev, J. B. Hespe-
fein succeeded him. Father Iespelein was succeeded by Rev. Robert
Kleineidam, who erected the high tower and in it put three bells.  Six years

RT. REV. JOHN N, NEUMANN, IW1., C.58.R,
Fourth Bishop of Philudelphia.

later, in 1859, Rev, Lorenz Holzer became pastor,  He, with the Rev. Peter
Carbon, founded the St Vincent Orphan Asylum in Tacany.  Under his ree-
torship the Redemptorist Order suffered a great loss by the death of Right
o Rev. J, N, Neumann, who is buried at St. T'eter’s.
“In 1861 Rev. Anton Urban took charge of the parish, Ile was followed
Ly the Revs, William Iuehrman and John De Dycker., The latter built the
present schoolhouse, with accommodations for 1,000 children,

Rev. Willlam Lowekamp, recently provincial of the Western Province,
was the next rector, and he had the church decorated by frescoing and placed
in it & new organ.

Father Lowekamp was succeeded in 1874 by Rev. M. Holaus, recently
deceased in Austria, who was followed by Rev. Joseph Wirth, Under the

Gougle
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latter's rectorship the new cemetery of the Most Holy Redeerner, near Brides-
barg, was bought, and the exterior of the church renovated. His successor
was Rev, Charles Sigl. He bought the hall on the west side of Fifth Street,
south of Girard Avenue, formerly a Methodist church, and changed it inta a
hall for the parish societies. Rev. Charles Schmidt was chosen rectorin 1890,
The chapel of Our Lady of Perpetual Help was built the same year, Tt is at-
tached to'the church on the north side. He was instrumental in building the
“new Sisters’ house on Lawrence Street. He was suceeeded in May, 1893,
by Rev. Fidelis Speidel, the present rector,

T 1848 the congregation numbered 3,000, in 18573 nearly 5,000, and in
1863 10,000 souls, which number it has retained to the present time, notwith-
stan('i:—ﬁg ihat scveral other parishes have been formed, and & greal many whao
were baptized here have joined English-speaking congregations, The aver.

age number baptized yearly for many ycars past is 550, and the number of
Holy Communions 45,000,

Over 200 members of St. Peter’s congregation have conseerated their
lives 1o God, twenty-seven of whom have reached the dignity of the priest-
hood and are now laboring all over the United States,

The golden jubilee of the church was celebrated with great solemnity on
November 1g, 1893. Rev. Father Bausch, C.85,R., of Baltimore, a child
of the parish, preached the sermon, from which we have derived the state-
ments of this notice,  Another grand solemnity was witnessed here on Sep-
tember 10, 1894, the golden jubilec in the priesthood of a former rector, Rev,

Father Ifespelein.  Mgr. Satolli, the Apostalic Delegate, and Archbishop
Ryan attended and made addresses,
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TuE SISTERS OF ST. FRANCIS.

INSTITUTED IN THE DIOCESE IN 1855.

T pleased Diviae Providence to call into existence the Sisters of St
Yrancis through the Rt. Rev. John Nepomucene Neumann, C.88.R.,
Bishop of Philadelphin, in the diocese of Philadelphiz, on the gth April,

1855, the feast St, Mary of Cleophas and Easter Monday,

The Rt. Rev, Bishop Neumnann requested permission of His Holiness
Tope Pius I1X. to call into his diocese the Dominican Nuos, The Ioly
Tather suggested that the danghters of the Seraphic Saint Francis might be
trained lo fulfil the object requested by the Rt Rev. Prelate. TUpon
1is invitation, several Tranciscan Fathers came from Bavaria and assisted him
in the execation of his plans. Fhus, the diocese of Philadeiphia was, in the
design of Ged’s Trovidence, the chosen spot where the first Community of
Franeiscans in America were called inlo existence. o
Franciscans I AmEIREE T2 -

Fhe congregation of St. Peter, under the charge of the Redemplorist
Fathers, had the happiness to have the first house of the Order in their midst,

Mother Mary Trances Bachmann was the first to receive the holy hiabit of

rigiellt: Sevb ST e A

St. Trancis from the hands of the Tt WB_“PE&E Neumann,

RO

tishop Newmann was i all respecs 2 faithful mumnonlm_.a ioving father

for”"the little Tlock which had placed itself under his care. It was lis

wish that the Sisters .mrcaa devotg themselves to the exercise of the spiritual

that the olLer L e
and corporal works of merey, but the visitation and care of the sick was to be
o - Won anc Care of Lk i o =

their primary obiect, They coutd - ceommodate but & few sick in the small
convent, thercfore the Sisters devoted themselves o visiting the sick and
attending them in their own homes.

On September 1, 1858, the foundations of the sccond house were com-
menced in St. Alphonsus’ parish. ‘This was destined to be the novitinte.

ster Mary Agnes was appointed Mistress of novices and Supevioress of the
house. It was here, too, that the first school was opened. After Bishop
Newnann’s death God sent another paternal pratector and patron in the person
of the Rt. Rev, Jumes ¥, Wood, 13.D. Under his protection the ligtle
Commnnity continued to prospet, In 1863 the Order suffered a severe loss
in tie death of Mother Mary Frances.

Bishop Wood immedialely appointed Sister Mary Agnes as General
Superioress of the Community, and Rev. Antonin Marja Grundtner, 0.8.13,,
V.M., the Spiritual Dircetor of {he Community, brought the news of this ap-
pointment runry 10, 1864, on which day fell Ash Wednesday.

Tn Archbishop Wood’s time the Sisters were confined to receiving Ger-
mans only into the Community, which limitation confined them somewhat,
but with the advent of our present Arclibishop Ryan, its fields of Jabor were
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e
considerably widened, as the Order was allowed to receive members of all
nationalities, thus enabling it to go to the Norti, South and West.
Of the many institutions conducted in the archdiocese by the Sisters of

St, Francis, the most important arg St, Mary’s Tospital, at Palmer Street and
Trankiard Avenue, and St, Agnes’ Hospital, Mifllin and Broad Streets, Phila-

o o, - AN i

delphia.
St. Mary's Hospital had its origin from a smaller institution of the m..:ﬁv«
character, at Fourth Street and Girard Avenue, the site of which is now oc-
cupied by private dwellings. In July, 180606, this was translerred to the old
hotel which then eceupied the site of {he present hospitah. The present dis-
pensary was then rented by the Sisters as a drug store and the present chapel
as a grocery store. Beginning humbly, with aecommodations for auly sixly
patients, the institution lias since grown, with improved and costly additions
until it now accommodates more than koo patients.

St. Agnes' Fospital, Broad and Milllin Strzels, was opencd in May, 18588,

With o Jronage of 200 leet on Troad Street, the preseat tentre and wing cost
about 300,000, Tt was built on a lot purchased for $70,000. Recent addi-
tions have been made Lo its real eslate, which now covers 1wo acres, through
the munificence of the daughters of the lnte Mrancis A. Drexel. The addition
of another wing is under contemplation, and this, when completed, will make
St. Agnes’ the peer of any similar institution in the counlry. At present it -
accommadates 200 patients, who are under the supervision of 2 medical and
surgical corps of the city's foremost experts and a vesident stalf of four phy-
S1Cians.

Resides these local institutions the Sisters of St. Francis
st, Joseph's Hospilal, Thirteenth and welout SiFeets, Keading,
was opened 11 July, 1873, the building, Yike that of St. Mary’s, Inving for-
merly been a hotel,  For some time an old frame huilding wis ‘acenpied as a
smallpox  department. This was the nuclens of the present fine louse,
which was built Len years ago, at a cost of $80,000. A new chapel and ope-
rating rooin were ndded three years ago. The lnte Rev. Tdward McKee in-
creased the property by the gift of an adjoining lot. The hospital accomnio-
dates sixty patients.

“The present poyitiate of the Orler is situated al the Convent of Our Tady
of Angels, Gl Riddle, Delaware County, which was formerly the prepara-
tory department Jor e egistieal sdents of the diocesc, familiarly known
as the ¢ Little Seminary.’! It was pceupied by the Sisters for the first time
September 7, 1871, and with the large and beautiful new chapel and other
improvements is well cquipped for ils sublime work.

“Ihe following shows the diocesan institutions conducted Dy the Sisters
of St. Francis :

Mother House, 505 Reed Street, Philadelphin, Pa., Geptember 28, 18583
Novitiate, Our Lady of Angels, Glen Riddle; All Saints' Sehool, Bridesburg ;
St. Mary's School, Manayunk, Pa. § Sacred Ieart School, Allentown, Pa.;
St, Donifacius' School, St. Clair, Pa.; St John’s School, Haycock, I'n.;
St. Mauritius® School, Ashland, Pa.; St Yidelis’ School, Mahanoy City,
Ta.; St. Elizabeth’s School, Philadclphia, Pa. St. Bernard’s School, Beth-
lehem, Pa.; St Mary’s School, Doylestown, Pa. 5t Mary’s School, Cata-
sauqua, Pr.; St Josefih’s School, Haston, Ta.; $5. Peler and Paul’s School,
Lehighton, I'a.; Sehiool, Most Blessed Saceament, Tally, Pa. ; St. Bonaven-
wra’s School, Philadelphia, Pa. s St. Mary's School, Minersville, Pa, 3 St
Ludwig’s School, Philadelphia, Pa. ; St. Alphonsus® School, Thiladelphia, P
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5t. Pichmond, Philadelphia
S, , Philidelphia

8t Franeis Xavier's, Philadelphia
4t Charles Borromeo's, Lhiludelp
8t. Agatha’s, Philadelphia

Our Lady of Merey, Philadelphin
St. Thomas Aquinas’, Philadelphin

St. Monica’s, Philadelphia

Visilation of The Blessed Virgin Mary, Philudelphia
Nativity of the Blessed Virgin Mary, Philadelphia
it. Peler’s, Philadelphia

St. Veroniea’s, Philadelphia

Churel of the Gesu, Philadelphia

Girace Church, Philadelphia

Baber Memorinl, Pettsville, Pa.

Zion, Reading, Ta.

Methodist Episcopal, West Pitiston, P

8t. Mary’s, Beaver Meadow, Pa.

St. Joseph’s, Huzleton, Pa,

8t. Mary’s (Polish), Rending, Pa.

8. Bonaventura’s, Philadelphia

All Saints’, Bridesburg, Pu.

Church of $t. Rose de Lima, Carbondale, Pa.

8t. Joseph's, Reading, Pa.

5t. Mary’s, Lebanon, a.

Our Lady of Good Counsel, Philadeiphin

St. Patrick’s, McAdoo, Pa.

Chureh of the Annuneintion, Shandon, Pa.

St. Michael’s, Chester, Pa.

Sacred Ileart, Lamokin, Pa.

St. Joseph's, Ashjand, Ta.

St. Laurentins’, Philadelphia

St. Ceeelia’s, Coatesville, Pa.

Convent. Chapel of Villa Marin, West Chester, Py
St. John's, Lambertville, N. J.

Chapel of St. Franeis, Trenton, N. J.

Chureh of St. Joachim, Frankford, Ia.

Chureh of St. Nicholus of Tolentiro, Atlantie City, K. J.
St. Josepl’s {Polish), Camden, N. J. .

St, Anthony’s, Lancaster, Pa.

Polish Church, Pittston, Pa.

St. John’s Xs., Philadelphia

Snered Heart of Jesus, Philadelphin

Chureh of the Immaculzte Conception, Allentown, Pa.
&t. (Gabriel’s, Philadelphia

Our Mother of Sorrows, West Thiladelphia

Saered Heart of Jesus, Allentown, Ta.

St. Mary Magdalen de Pazzi, Philadelphia

S(. Peter Claviers, Philadelphia

St John's, Philadelphin

Church of the Messinh, Philadelphia

Cumberland Disston Memorinl, Philadelphia

Oxford Chapel and Chureh, Philadelphin

&t Andrew’s, Newtown, Pa.

—_

(Sounce: Durang's "Album'c.1910)

St Ldward’s. Shamokin, P

s, Jol’s, Potistown, Pa.

St. HFrancis de Sal Lenni, [he.

Snered Weart, Chester, Pa.

Filla Maric Chapel, West Chester, .

St. Thomas of Villa Nova, Villa Nova, Pu. -~
Our Lady of Geod Counsel, Bryn Mawr. f*a.
St Moniea'’s, Berwyn. Pa.

Holy Tufaney, Bethlehem, Ua.

Wativity Blessed Virgin Mary. Media, a.
S, Mary's, St Clair, Pa.

COLLEGES AND SCHOOLS

8t. Angustine School Building, Philadelphia

Annunecistion B. V. M. School Building, Philadeiphia

Clathedral School Buildiag, Philadelphia

Immaculate Conception Schoed Building, Philadelphin

Our Lady of Mercy School Building, Philadelphia

St Aun's School Building, Thiladelphia

§t. Bridget’s School Building, Philadelphia

St. Charles Dorromeo’s School Building, Philadelphia

§f. Franeis Xavier's School Duilding Philadelphia

. James' School Building, PThiladelphia

Joaehim’s School Building, Philndelphia

Michnels School Building, Philadelphia

Patrick’s School Building, Philadelphia

Taul’s School Building, Thiladelphin

St. Teresa's School Building, Philadelphia

St. Thomas Agquinas’ Sehool Building, Philadelphis

Gt. Veroniea’s School Building, Philadelphia

Visitation of the B. V. M, School TBuilding, Philadelphia

St. Moniea’s School Building, Philadelphia

St. Mary's Sehool Building, Tanenster, Pn.

St. Gabriel’s School Building, Philadelphia

Public School, Race and Crown Streets. Philadelphin
Augustinian College of 8t. Fhomas of Villa Nova, Villa Nova, Pa.
Trinity College, Washington, n. G

Convent of the Sisters of Notre Dane, Walnut Hills, Cineinaali, Ohio
Convent of the Sisters of Notre Dame, Philadelphia

Cirapel and Building of the Giaters of Notre Dame, Moylan, Tu.
Convent of the Sisters of Notre Dame, Forl Lee, N. T,

Mater Misericordine Convent of the Gistors of Merey, Mevion, 1.
Convent of the Sisters of Merey, Philadelphia

Convent of Our Lady of Angels, Glen Riddie, T,

Tndustrinl Sehool of the Tmmuaeculate Conception, [hiladelphia
Mount St. Michael’s, Reading, Pa.

8. Anthony’s Academy. Philadelpbia

St. Joseph’s College. Philadelphia

Sacred Heart Sehool, Philadeiphia

tesu School, Philadelphin

Kutztown State Normal Sehool, Rututown, .

HOMES AND ASYLUMS
Catholic Home for Destitute Children, Philadelphin







ST. PETER’S CHURCH. 43

ber an ber Rirdhe angejtellten Seelforger. Die
Summe von 365,000 war fiir ben Bau aufzus
bringen; in einer ecftmunfid) furgen Reit wunrde
bas Geld gefamumelt, Bei ver Vollendung Hed Baued
waren burdh) den Bau-Vevein beinahe 540,000
gefamnelt.  Stod) 825,000 waven wufjubringen,

wn die auf der Kivdje laftende Suld wolljtdinbdig !

ju tilgen. @ine grofie “Fair,” welde am 16. Jan-
uar 1399 erbffnet murbe und vier Wodjen bauerte,
wurde zu biefem Bwede abgefalten; a8 uner-

wartete Ergebrif war $9,000, welde Summe bem
Die nidht nadlaf=-

Bau-Fonb jugewendet wurbe.
fenbe Freigebigleit er quten Leute fiellte bie bul-
bige vollitandige Tilgung der Scduld in Anshdt-

Der dupere Wmbau der Kirde Hatte bebeutenbe
Opfer an bie Gemeinde geftellt; jedodh war bdie
Freigebigleit ber Gemeinbemitglieder dadurd) widt
erfdhipft.

su bringen, win auc) das Frnere ver Kivdhe umzu:

avbeiten und mit dem Weufern in Havmonie ju .
jegen. Der grofe Grfolg, mit Dem foweit Has '

TWert gefeint war, gab Muth sum neven Unter-
nefhmen.
begnitgen und bringte, aud mit der innern Aus-
fdpmitdung der RKirdje ju beginnen. Ale Hegten
ben Wunfd), dad Gotteshaus red)t bald in vollen:
veter Scjinbeit fehen 3u Tonnen.

Die  Plarfinder der St Peters  Rivdye
baben cine  grofe  AnBanglichfeit an  ibre
Kirde, an vas Sotteshaus, in weldem fie jo oft
bem Gebete obliegen, fo oft dem Goitesdienfte

beiwofnen und fo viele Guaben von dem im Taber- .
nafel wolnenben Heilande empfangen und fdeuen :
beshalb feine Dpfer wo e3 gilt, a5 Gotteshous |

wiitdig audzuitatten. So fonnte wman alfo jdon
bald nad) ber dupern Renovation audh mit dev
innesn beginnen und Gatte Grund, i Doffen, dof
die ju diefem Unternehnen nothmwentige @eldjunune
ebenfall von ben freigedigen ®emcindemitgliedern
eufgebradit werben wiivbe. 1lm diefe newen Nn=
foften Bejtreiten ju fonnen, wurde ein newer Vaus
Fond:BVerein gegriindet, defjen Mitglieder wident:
lid) 5 Gents beizutvagen hatten. Derfelbe Avdhitelt,
Herr Durang, avbeitete die Rldne ausd ; fie wourben
gehiﬂigt und joflten vedht bald verwirflidht werben.
Derr Dietrid), ein Mitglied ber Bemende, wurbe
mif .ber Ausfithring ver Avbeit betvaut, Im 28,
m@fl}[l 1900 swurden die Geritfte in ey Rirde auf-
geidlagen und die innere Grneverung ey §tirde
fD}mte beginnen, Der Gottedbienft wurbe in der
g‘;@e_eiugeﬁer{t und §i8 ju deven Vollenbung im

Togeichol abgefalten. Die Arbeiten nafhmen fait

Man erflirte fidh Dereit, weitere Opfer *

Man wollte fich nicht mit halber Arbeit |

the old pulpit was in part removed on account
of the new chapel, and a movable pulpit
henceforth served the purpose of the prea-
cher of the sacred word. Several improve-
ments were made in the school buildings and
also in the basement. A house and convent
for the School Sisters of Notre Dame was
built — a necessity, as their former abode
. could only be called a ** shanty.”” —

A brilliant and prosperous epoch in the
Church’s history has been the administration
of Rev. Fidelis Speidel, the present Rector,
who took charge of St. Peter’s May zist,
1893.

¢
i
|
1

Interior and Exterior Renovations of

St. Peter’s Church,
(18g5—1001.)

Although St. Peter’s Church had under-
gone many changes and improvements since
| its foundation, nevertheless it was far from
; being complete in beauty, and much less in
| that durabiiity necessary for withstanding
- the attacks of time. Many of the parishio-

ners, among whom the business men figured
+ particularly, had repeatedly suggested and
made substantiated propositions to__g__ﬁirely
_and completely remodel and renovate both
i the exterior and the interior of the church,
For some years the necessity of this under-
taking had been felt and became more evi-
dent as time went on, buf the gigantic pro-
portion of the work deterred even the seri-
ous thought of beginning. However the de-
termined desire to have a chuzch which
would be in keeping with the progress of the
parish and of the times in general, and serve
as a most suitable dwelling for the God of
Infinife Majesty, became general among the
, pEopIE of St. Peter’s. To reaye this desire,

a meeting of the heads of the families of the
parish was held in the hall, dnd after some
debate, it was unanimously agreed upon to
begin the difficult project proposed ; provided
that generous assistance was promised.

Mr. Durang, a prominent architect of this
city, was asked to draught plans. Specifica-
tions were submitted, and received approval.
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ein Sahr in Anjpruch.  Jm Nuni bed gegenwdrtis '

gen Jahres 1801 Avaren bie Ycbeiten vollenbet
und bie Rivde urde mit grofer Feierlichleit
evifinet.

sy ——

Bejdreibung der St Peters fivdye im
Unfauge ded 20. Jahrhnruderts.

S Qaufe unferer gefdidtlichen Stizze haben
it die fortidreitente Gniwidlung der St. Peterd
Rirde genau verfolgt. Die verjdjicbenen Berdn:
perwngen, Berbefferungen und Berfdpbnerungen,

ie an pem Wenkeren und im Janeren yon Al=St.

Peterd feit dem Bejtehen vorgenommen worben

find, find in unfere Erinnerung juriigerufen wor= |
Den und roit Tin% jebt aur @egenwart gelangt, u

ber das altehrmiitdige Gottedhaus in Jugenvlidjem
Glang und ftrahlendent Feftaemand die allgemeine
Yufmerffambeit auf fid lenft und unferem Blide
nie geafnte Shinfeiten enthilt.

Dag Weufere dev Kirdhe ift Jo volfftdndig ver:
dndert worden, daf man ben Eindrud empfingt,
baf an ber Ede der fiinfien Strahe und Girarh
Yvenue eine voliftindig neue Kirdje evbaut worden
ijt. Die eingige Grinnerung wnd dad alleinige
TWahrzeidhen der Bergangendeit Dilbet Dic Den fohen
Thurm Fronende Kugel mit dem grofien fid fiber
berjelben erhebenben, vergoldeten Kreuge.

Nur biejenigen Lefer unfered Souvenivd bie bie
alte Rirde, deven Baditeinmauern mit grawem
Mietel ranh beworfen, und deren Haupt=Fafjade

pon einer Dreiten Treppe, ju ber die brei Portale |

in feinem Berhiltnifle geftanden, eingenommen
war, gefannt Haben, foruen die an dem Aeuferen
ber Qivhe vorgenonunenen gropartigen Beridbs

nerungen und Bevbefjerungen i ihremt voflen |

Umfange wiicdigen.

Bei diefem Lnbau, der den Thurm, bie Haupt:
Saffade und bie beiden Seiten=Fafjaben umfaht
hat, wurde Tunftooll befauener Port Depolit Gras
nit perwendet und wurden die Ginfafjungen und

Ornamente aud Bedford Jnbiana Stein hevgejtellt, |

Die Haupt-Fafjade ver Kivde it etn Metjtermert
ver Nedpiteftonif.  Der Hohe, fhon und jymunes
trifd) abgeglieberte Thurm mit den {chlanten und
sierlicdhen Seitenthitrmdjen ragt aus dew majfiven,
aber trogdem gierlidhen Bau fo fdhdon hervor, dah
er aud dewfefden faft unmerflid) emporiteigt uub
als einer der jdonjten Thiteme unferer an Kivdh-

A ““Building Fund Society ”’ was organized

Understanding that it was to last for the
period of fifty (50) months, The members
were to pledge themselves to pay a certain
sum every month, if possible not less
i than fifty cents, and on their part the
Fathers promised that a High Mass would be
offered every month for the benefit of the
| contributors. The good people of St. Peter’s
unanimously entered upon the proposed
method and manifested their great generos-
ity in contributing according to their means.
A great number of those-whom heaven had
favored with more than ordinary means
. subscribed considerable sums.

in the Bégi&r@g of the year 1895, with the

With bright prospects for the future the
work was begun in July of the same year
by tearing away the steps in front of the
church, and digging the foundation for a new
“facade. The Contractors_and Builders for

the work were selected in Messrs. Thos, Mc-
Carty and Frank J. Colgan. Under their
direction the work progressed satisfactorily.
The sth_day of October, in the year 1897,

witnessed the completion of the exterior: a
monument to the generosity of the good
people and the zeal of the Fathers, who had
fostered and brought the great work to
completion, By this time the enormous sum
of almost forty thousand ($40,000) dollars
had accrued through the workings of the
¢ Building Fund Society.”” Nevertheless the
sum of twenty-five thousand ($23,000) dol-
lars had still to be raised to cancel the debt
of the exterior of the church. A ‘‘Fair”
was begun January 16, 1899, lasting about
four weeks, and the unexpected sum of nine
thousand dollars ($g,000) was added to the
Building Fund. The continued offerings of
the parishioners inspired hopes of a speedy
l liquidation of the remaining debt.

Although the exterior renovation had made
many heavy claims upon their generosity,
stifl this was by no means exhausted.
The great success with which their efforts
had been blessed encouraged them not to
leave the work half-done. It was evident

that the interior was in no_way in_har-
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thirgsrren o reidjen Stadt der Bruberliede begeich=
et ypevoen muf. FWiihrend ber alte Thurm ausd
pacteinernen Gevierten mit oben unb unten juriids
tret enden Qeijten und cinem verhiltnipmifig viel
i jieberen Giebel beftanden Baite, wurbe bei dem
lunbau dic Giebel-Binie Debeutend Herabgelajjen-
gyer Thurm hat daburd) eine piel fhlantere @eflalt
erhalien und feine Hoge Tommt zur vollen Geltung.
er grobe Raum, den frilher die grofie, Dreite,
gegen Sturm und Regen ganz unbefdityte Treppe
gingenommen fatte, ift jebt {iberbaut und der ba-
purd gemonnene Rawn in eine hodit gefdmad:
polle Borhalle mit bret funfivollen Portalen wum:
geddert worden. e zwel glatt polivte Sranits
paulen mit reid) gefdmisten Sodeln wnbd jdhdn ge-
fdproungenen fndufen, anf die fid) die aud Jnvianas
Gtein audgehauenen Ruadbogen Gerabienten, ges
reidjen Dem Hauptportale jur grofien Bierbe. Die
Rafis bis gur Ganglinie ped Fufbovens befteht aus
fellem Granit. Die Abfidht ved Architeften bei
piefem vollftdndigen Ausbau per Rirde ift offendar
paBin gegangen, die Hauptwirfungen fiir dasd Jn-
nere er irde aufjuipaven. Sdon die Borhalle,
oie i bem mittleren Haupteingange per fivdpe
anidlielt, madt durd ire einfache, abev fehr
(oirfungsvolle Defovation einen tiefen Einbrud,
ger durd) bie Etatuen, die in Den pier MNifdhen dars
geftellt werben, nodh exhdht werden wird, Diefe
srifchen find mit sierlidhen Vogen in Fresco-Males
cei, Die ein byzantinijhes frews seigen, eingefafst.

Dad Jnnere der fivde it von auperordentlider
Sdhinheit und Groartigheit ber Berhiltnifje, das
pei von einer mafoollen Ginfachheit ber Defora-
tion, elde die Raumidinbeit nod) erhdht, fo bap
fein dbnlidjer firdenbau in Rhilabdelphia jid) da-
it mefjen fann. Dian findet & bei bem An:
glige bedfelben faft felbftveritindlid), Pap Der
peutife Kaifer bet feinem nentichen Befudpe der
9rbtei- Rivdye von JRaria=Qaadh, an deven TWieder:
ferftellung in ihrer urfprimglidgen, altehrmiirbigen
Geftalt er ein lebhafies Sntereffe nimmt, wnvers
fiohlen ertldrte, 2a% er Dem romanifden Baujtile
fogar vor bem gothijchen Bauitile den Vorzug gebe.
@3 ift ein cinjdhijfiges Qanghaus, von einem folofs
jalen Itulvengerwblbe iberdedt, as fid) bet dem
Hodaltor vevengt und mit einer Apfid abjchlieft,
oie von einem halbrunden Dom, der aud Eijenvip-
pen gebibet und mit goidenem Raihedralglas ginge:
dectt ift, fiberdacht ift. Miit grofer Meiftevidaft ift
oie Deleudjhung fo vertheilt, bah dad Inmere ber

CHURCH.

mony with the beauty of the renovated ex-
terior.

The people of, St. Peter’s have always
been conspicuous for their singular attach-
ment to their church in which they offer
homage and worship to God and become the
happy receivers of so many graces from the
God of Love residing in the tabernacle. “We
have begun the work and succeeded so far,””’
they said, ** we will continue and see our
church completed and beautified in every
detail.”” They became almost importunate
and declared their readiness to raise the

of the interior of ine church. Consequently
plans had_to be drafted by the same archi-
T ———— . . = -
toct, Mr, Edwin Durang, which plans being
submitted for approval were declared satis-
factory.

At this time the proposed duration of the
Building Fund expired and another society
was organized in which every member was
assessed five cents a week, anda High Mass
on the 4th Sunday of every month was pro-
mised for the members. Thus all the people,
even of the poorest class, were enabled to
join and did so with cheerfulness and
pleasure. A considerable number of young
men having offered their services as collec-
tors, a small district was assigned to each
one. Through this Building Society No.za
sum of over ten thousand dollars {$10,000)
was realized.

Me. Dietrich, a member of the parish, and
Contractor and Builder, was selected for the
work. On July 23rd of the same year,
work was energetically begun. The upper
church being now closed to the public, all
services were conducted in the basement of
the church. The month of June of the pres-
ent year of grace 1901, witnegsed the com-
pletion of the gigantic work, /jnd the solemn
re-opening_of the church.

Qirde von allen Seiten fih exheilt. Wad aber .

necessary funds to proceedto thw_t_i_g_&
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THE PRIVATE CITY

Philadelphia in Three Periods of Its Growth
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MunicIPAL INSTITUTIONS 12%

within these schools there were four different tracks for students to
pass along—college, general, commercial, and industrial—and some
special classes, the buildings, tracks, and classes of the public schools
appear limited indeed when compared to the private possibilities of
the same era.

The haut bourgeois of Philadelphia, like their counterparts in
all Eastern cities, have never accepted the mass-production economy
education of the public schools. They have continually maintained
and expanded their private school network to get just that variety of
education and individualized pace which has been denied the ma-
jority. In the 1920’s for private pupils there were small neighbor-
hood nursery schools, kindergartens, and elementary schools, in-
town elementary and secondary day schools, schools for boys, schools
for girls, country day schools, coeducational schools, day and board-
ing English-style schools, progressive schools, parochial schools, mili-
tary schools, and more besides for children with special problems. By
contrast, when some of his teachers tried to imitate a then fashion-
able experiment in self-directed education at the South Philadelphia
School for Girls, Superintendent Broome could not even back them
up with the changes in rooms and teaching assignments they would
have needed to continue the program.®® It is an unpleasant irony of
the history of Philadelphia and of the nation's other cities that such
class variations in opportunities for education were the very evils
which the Philadelphia school reformers of the early nineteenth cen-
tury hoped to avoid.

8. Faculty of the South Philadelphia High School for Girls, Educating for Respon-

sibility, the Dalton Laboratory Plan in Secondary School (Philadelphia, 1926}, ix-6,
24-33.
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ing and sanitary codes only after the standards of the cor

owners, and mill supervisors out of them. Others it lowered to the
become general practice in new construction.®

level of permanent employees. This splitting up of the city’s tradi-

tional artisan-shopkeeper group would have been a troublesome
process in its own right since it frustrated so many men’s expecta-

tions for a shopkeeping, master artisan role for themselves and their
families. In addition to this frustration, the rising productivity of _
industrialization exacerbated artisan grievances by raising the level
of the new middle class's consumption while skilled workers gained
little,

One need not recall the extreme symbol of the lavish furnish-
ing of the Victorian haut bourgeois house to appreciate the ten-
sions set up by the unequal distribution of the first fruits of indus-
trialization. In the years between 1827 and 1860 the new middle
class enjoyed a number of important advances in mﬁw&d&\ consump-
tion. The bare floors, whitewashed walls, and scant furniture of
middle-income eighteenth-century homes gave way to wool carpet-
ing, wallpaper, and all manner of ?5535% The houses them-

PusLic SCHOOLS

In the case of the waterworks, the traditions of private
forbade the reasonable extension of a public health program
citizens and thereby prevented the city from realizing the be
a universal improvement in its standards of living. The
schools present quite the opposite case. The very motive
creation of Philadelphia's public schools was to aid the poo
the beginning the schools were open to all whites, and in tir
_ pulsory education (1895) made school inescapable to all child
The traditions of the city and circumstances under wl

Philadelphia system first grew, however, confined the public
permanently to low-cost, mass uniformity of instruction. T

tradition of privatism set narrow goals for instruction, wi

early nineteenth-century institutional division of education.

selves became relatively cheaper an and grew in size from three rooms between public and private schools further constrained the

to four-to-six rooms in row houses or flats in row houses. The chil- , schools from offering a variety of programs. Uniform acculi
for urban industrial life became the great specialty of the

dren slept one to a bed, and indoor toilets became common in their

homes. In contrast to the eighteenth century when the middle- : schools, a specialty set before the Civil War and a task fron
income house generally included the shop, the husband now com- . Philadelphia’s schools never could extricate themselves.
monly worked in an office, store or shop outside his home, and the The public schools of Philadelphia grew out of a fa
first-floor, front room became a parlor instead of a work room. Mid- private schools to reach a large enough fraction of the cit
nineteenth-century families of the new middle class did not need to dren. The Philadelphia Directory of 1800 listed about two 1
put their children to work in the family trade or shop; they nomﬂm school teachers, mostly women. Using their own front roo

take full advantage of the new public grammar school education. _ rented room, these teachers managed several programs:
I i U schools for children of six and under, elementary schools f

Finally, they had growr prosperous enough to attend the H:Qmmmﬁm o .
variety of offerings of commercial downtown entertainment.® ing, writing, and arithmetic, academies and “colleges” for g
Almost every item on this list of middle-class consumption boys up to the ages of fourteen to sixteen. In addition

gains lay beyond the reach of Philadelphia’s artisan population. _ 15.0n May 7, 1855 the city of Philadelphia passed a comprchensive co
. code. The first sanitary law was the state statute of 1895 (Laws of Pennsylvan

of 1895, 178-181) which required water closcts for new and remodeled tenemen

G.’This description of the rising standards of living among Philadelphia’s new
: . . . e . Programs for the munieipal enforcement of higher housing standards
middle n_.umm during .:x.u years 1825-1860 is an impressionistic summary which attempts , cult economic issues, The 8@35 must not simpl mlnn mﬁmaa_mmnm.noioan_r
to reconcile the pessimistic accounts of labor histories with the more optimistic indices out of the _.n..:.u= mm z.nvﬁcm:.. Such was ::.~ NHMH in Boston a.i_n: sar
of economic historians, Most uscful {or specifics are, Edgar W. Martin, The Stendard ' i ) ‘ c o alie
Cn s : - ' fireproofing regulations made conforming tenements too expensive for low
of Living in 1860 {(Chicago, 1942), 05-105, 110-115, 121-128, 168-1 3-345 - : v £ TeR g P
uwm.»o».w:n Hanrwmn o M:EBM:V o u,}au.mqna«_.n%." nw& M:.. Wm a_momm.&., u?woﬂm% mww. Cunilics o occupy legally, Lloyd Rodwin, Housing end Lconomic Progress (€
98 m»-m.m_ 049.244; mcmmmmaos of mmu. rovement in housin Mrcconoz %w m“._m“ N :Wmo ’ : 1961), 13-38. For the New York experience sce Roy Lubove, The Progressiv
modity O - Pro . & - A m Stums (Pittsburgh, 1962); for Chicago, Edith Abbott and Sophonisha Breckin
y Output, 1839-1899," Trends in the American Economy in the Nineteenth ; Tenements of Ghicago 1908-1935 (Chicago, 1936)

Gentury (National Bureau of Economic Rescarch, Princeton, 1960), 25-42.
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IRIS!

: beeame a powerful social medium for Catholie life in the eity.
Nz For the Irish immigrants it provided a means of maintaining

a coherent pattern of social separation from the indigenous
Philadelphians, whose reception of the immigrants had proved

mmmmw hamm-wmnm h to be less than enthusiastic. The immigrants’ children, or first-

generation Philadelphians, were from their earliest years part

of a parish community in which their identities and childhood

N GENERATIONS OF ‘vsyehological exferionces were informed by Catholio con
TEN GENERATIOE : _ sclousness and influence, moral as well as visual and intellee-
URBAN EXPRERIENCE fual

...... The parish and school network became suffciently compre- ‘

hensivé That the individual conld proceed from eradle to career
without substantial non-Catholie contact, Ji represented a

DENNIS CLARK great social and financial investment in group mo:;mmm.:w and

tradition. It was a strong influence upon loeal neighborhood
life, reinforcing residential ties and amenities. As part of the

Catholic subeulture, the schools provided a medium for the
fostering of Catholic marriages and voeations to the priest-
hood, as well as a tutoring system for Catholie orientation and
practice. The parishes and schools were g response fo Catholie
needs and non-Catholic pressures, and as such they formed a
respensive institutional fabric in which the immigrant conld
find the self-assurance, familiarity, and praectical aid he
needed. .

(__Parishes.and schools facilitated collaboration for many pur- s
poses. As ecarly mmmw\mht the Catholics had established Saint iz o/
Joseph’s Hospital, and by 1856, Saint J. oseph’s Orphanage and
Saint Anne’s Widow’s Home.50 Saint _Joseph’s Hospital was J, 5

At /0 8§ tay AR
only one good work of the Daughters of Charity, which had ¢ =

long heen active in caring for the ill at the HwEmEoW Almshouse e
and for vietims of epidemies.” The parishes were the vehicles
for charitable groups such as the Society of Saint Vincent de
Paul. The fivst group began caring for the poar in St. J oseph’s
Pparish in 1851, and by 1858 seven groups were at work in other
. , .~ parishes. There were Sunday schools for children who attended
Philadelphia : . public schools; literary clubs like the Philopatrian Literary

Temple University Press
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54 Chapter Three

laborers, were frequently in no position to pay even $5-$10 a
month for rent.

Stephan Thernstrom shows that labhorers in Newburyport,
Massachusetts, were paying between $60 and $100 a year in
rent in 1850. This surpasses the average Philadelphia rent of
$53—$68 suggested by Martin and Young. Handlin cites rent-
als in the Tort Hill area in Boston of $1.50 per room per
weelk, and equally exorbitant rents for atties and cellars.’
While the unskilled immigrants to Philadelphia no doubt
faced similar gouging, the fact that the eity was able to ex-
pand its housing supply and make more working-class houses
available was some relief. In addition, rental housing simply
was not as large a portion of the Philadelphia housing market
as it was in Boston and New York.

. As early as 1851 Patrick McKeown was writing home to his
sisters in Ireland that “‘almost every family has a house to
themselves let it be large or small and a great many working
people own the houses the{y] live in.”’ ® The opportunity for

~—-=—=3 g workingman to obtain a home of his own was really there.

A

Advertisements in the Evening Bulletin proelaimed, *‘ There
is not a Man in the Consolidated City of Philadelphia but Can
Avail Himself of a Home If He Desires,’’ and James Tagert
of the Plank Road and Harrowgate Land Company offered to
sell the houses desired.’? At the edge of the city sizable lots
were for sale, and builders were invited.%8

A good many of the Irish were in a position to take advan-
tage of these opportunitics. Whereas a two-story house in
HH.&E:H was a mark of notable mﬁﬁmzom in ngmmmwﬁHHHm;m.I uch a_

‘be so fortunate as Bernard gaoumm%v who in Hmmm willed his
daughters $33,000 worth of property.®® Buf an examination
of bequests of Philadelphia Irishmen of the 1850s indicates

Tehue -0 o g

that it was not uncommon for members of the city’s Irish

community to own houses and real _property. 0 True, some of

iy PR et W s

the property was in slum areas, but some was in other areas
as well; a skilled tradesman like the Kensington wheelwright

Qity Shelter b5b

John 'W. Kelly was able to own two three-story briek houses,
and one frame house worth $5,000 at Germantown Road and
Franklin Street, and a man of lesser means like Barney
Murphy of Front and Otter Streets had a small two-story
frame house worth $500.7

An examination of a typical deed book, selected at random
from among those m the Archives of the City of Philadelphia,
shows several hundred property purchases recorded in 1853,
with eighteen by Irishmen in Moyamensing, Schuylkill, Port
Richmond, and Kensington. For example, John MeGinty
bought a house for $567.67 in North Philadelphia and had to
sign the deed with an ‘‘X’'; Catherine Cline and John Killan
bought houses in Schuylkill, Killan’s on Brazier Street, for
$600 and $413, respectively; William MeKnight sold a three-
story tenement in Schuylkill on Fifth Street to Terrence Mel-
lon, for $1,400; builder Thomas Dugan sold three new three-
story briek houses in Kensington to a carpenter for $1,200 eacl ;
while John Burke purchased a house at Jefferson and Marvine
Streets for $1,100. It is clear that home buying among the
Trish was not unusual, and that the purchases ranged from
older, less expensive hounses in such areas as Schuylkill to new
dwellings at the expanding edge of Kensington,™

The process of property acquisition often took a long time.
John MeDermott came to the eity from County Clare in the
1840s. He first lived in South Philadelphia but, being a weaver,
moved to the Kensington textile area, where he bought a
house at 448 North Washington Street (now American Street)
near Jefferson, The honse looked out on the turbulent Nanny
Goat Market that oceupied the street before it. In a shed in the
rear of the house, John MceDermott set up his loom. IIe helped
other Clare men, and they helped him. Ile prospered, pur-
chased a metal-working business, and with the proceeds pur-
chased two newer houses nmear the pleasant little square at
Third and Diamond Streets in a neater and more fashionable
neighborhood that had many German families.™

Visiting Philadelphia in the 1860s, a Turopean noted the
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and the original meaning of the forms is of little interest
to him. Even the geometric framework shares in this
task, for the great circle suggests the Dome of Heaven,
inscribed with the cross, the basic symbol of the faith,
In the central medallion we see a youthful shepherd,
with a sheep on his shoulders, in a pose that can be
traced back as far as Greek Archaic art (compare fig.
134); he stands for Christ the Saviour, the Good Shep-
herd who gives His life for His sheep. The semicircular
compartments tell the story of Jonah: on the left he is
cast from the ship, on the right he emerges from the
whale, and at the bottom he is safe again on dry land,
meditating upon the mercy of the Lord. This Old Testa-
ment miracle, often juxtaposed with New Testament
miracles, enjoyed immense favor in Early Christian art
as proof of the Lord’s power to rescue the faithful from
the jaws of death. The standing figures represent mem-
bers of the Church, with their hands raised in prayer,
pleading for divine help. The entire scheme, though small
in scale and unimpressive in execution, has a coherence
and clarity that set it apart from its pagan ancestors as
well as from the synagogne murals of Dura-Europos (see
colorplate 21). It contains, if not the reality, at least the
promise of a truly monumental new form (compare
fig. 295).

ARCHITECTURE

Constantine’s decision to make Christianity the state
religion of the Roman Empire had a profound impact on
Christian art. Until that time, congregations had been
“Unable to meet for worship in public; services were held
inconspicuously in the houses of the wealthier members.
Now, almost overnight, an impressive archifectural set-
ting had to be created for the new official faith, so that
the Church might be visible to all. Constantine himself
devoted the full resources of his office to this task, and
within a few years an astonishing number of large, im-

267. Reconstruction Drawing of Old St, Peter’s,
Rome {after Frazer)

ELTITT  Rioadts T TETTY

fromsassvanuncraazannnn

268, Plan of
0Old St. Peter’s, Rome.
Begun c. 333 AD,
{(after Frazer)

266, Interior,
St. Paul Qutside the Walls,
Rome. Begun 386 A.D.
[Etching by G.B. Piranesi, 1749]



perially sponsored churches arose, not only in Rome
but alsc in Constantinople, in the Holy Land, and at
other important sites. These structurss were a new type,
now called the Early Christian basilica, that provided

the basic model for the development of church architec-
ture in western Europe. Unfortunately, none of them

has survived in its original form, but the plan of the
greatest Constantinian church, St. Peter’s in Rome,
is known with considerable accuracy (figs. 267, 268). For
an impression of the interior, we must draw upon the
slightly later basilica of St. Paul Outside the Walls, built
on the same pattern, which remained essentially intact
until it was wrecked by fire in 1823 (fig. 266). The Early
Christian basilica, as exemplified in these two monu-
ments, is a synthesis of assembly hall, temple, and private
house. It also has the gualities of an original creation
that cannot be wholly explained in terms of its sources.
What it owes to the imperial basilicas of pagan times
becomes obvious when we compare the plan of St. Peter’s
with that of the basilica at Leptis Magna, erected a
hundred years earlier (fig. 229): the long nave flanked by
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270. Plan of S. Apollinare in Classe,
Raveana (afier De Angelis d’Ossat)

i 269. 8. Apollinare ia Classe,
Ravenna. 533-549 A.D.

placed in front of the apse at the easiern end of the nave,
and the enirances, which in pagan basilicas had usually
been on the flanks, were shifted to the western end.
The Christian basilica was thus oriented along a single,
longitudinal axis that is curiously reminiscent of the
layout of Egyptian temples {(compare fig. 72). Before en-
tering the church proper, we traverse a colonnaded court,

the atrium {see page 163), the far side of which forms an

entrance hall, the narthex, Only when we step through the
nave portal do we gain the view presented in figure 266,
The steady rhythm of the nave arcade pulls us toward
the great arch at the eastern end (called the triumphal
arch), which frames the zltar and the vaulted apse
beyond. As we come closer, we realize that the altar
actually stands in a separate compartment of space placed

at right angles to the nave and aisles, the bema or transept
{in the lesser basilican churches, this feature is frequently
omitted).

One essential aspect of Early Christian religious archi-
tecture has not yet emerged from our discussion: the
contrast between exterior and interior. It is strikingly

aisles and lit by clerestory windows, the apse, the wooden

roof, are familiar features of the earlier structure. The

pagan basilica was indeed a uniquely suitable model for
Constantinian churches, since it combined the spacious
interior demanded by Christian ritual with imperial as-
sociations that proclaimed the privileged status of Chris-
tianity as the new State religion. But a church had to be
more than an assembly hall; in addition to enclosing the
community of the faithful, it was the sacred House of
God, the Christian successor to the temples of old. In
order to express this function, the design of the pagan
basilica had to be given a new focus, the altar, which was

106 ]' EARLY CHRISTIAN AND BYZANTINE ART

demonstrated in the sixth-century church of S. Apollinare
in Classe near Ravenna, which still retains its original
appearance for the most part. The plain brick exterior
(figs. 269, 270) remains conspicuously unadorned; it is
merely a shell whose shape reflects the interior space it
encloses—the exact opposite of the Classical temple,
(Our view, taken from the west, shows the narthex but
not the atrium, which was torn down a long time ago;

”__:_-H\ - . - .
the round bell tower, or campanile, is a mediecval addi-

" N e ]
Eion.) This ascetic, antimonumental treatment of the

exterior gives way to the utmost richness as we enter
the church (colorplate 22). Here, having left the every-




day world behind us, we find ourselves in 2 shimmering
realm of light and color where precious marble surfaces
and the brilliant glitter of mosaics evoke the spiritual
splendor of the Kingdom of God.

“Refore dealing with these mosaic decorations at greater
length, we must take note of another type of structure
that entered the tradition of Christian arclntectu;g_j_n
Constantinian _times: MM
crowned with a dome. They had been developed, we will
recall, as part of the claborate Romai baths; the design
of the Pantheon was derived from that source (see page
162). Similar structures had been built to serve as monu-
mental tombs, or mausoleums, by the pagan emperors.

In the fourth century, this type of building is given &

Christian_meanin in the ba tisteries (where the bath )!(

~Comes a sacred rite) and funerary chapels linked
with basilican churches. The fnest surviving example is
Sta. Costanza (figs. 271-73), the mausoleum of Corn-
stantine’s daughter Constantia, originally attached to
the (now ruined) Roman church of St. Agnes Qutside the
Walls. In contrast to its pagan predecessorts, it shows 2
clear articulation of the interior Space into a domed
cylindrical core 1it by clerestory windows—the counter-
part of the nave of a basilican church—and & ring-shaped
“aisle” or ambulatory covered by a barrel vault. Here

271, Tnterior, Sta, Costanze, Rome. ¢. 350 AP. again the MOSAiC decoration plays an essential part in
setting the mood of the interiofr.

PAINTING; MOSAIC

The rapid growth of Christian architecture on a large
scale must have had a well-nigh revolutionary effect on
the development of Early Christian painting. Allof a
sudden, huge wall surfaces had to be covered with images
worthy of their monumental framework, Who was equal
to this challenge? Certainly not the humble artists who
had decorated the catacombs with their limited stock of
types and subjects. They were superseded by masters of
greater ability, recruited, we may SUppose, under im-
perial auspices, as were the architects of the new basiticas.
Unfortunately, s0 little has survived of the decoration of
fourth-century churches that its history cannot be traced
in detail. Apparently, great pictorial cycles were spread
over the nave walls, <he triumphal arch, and the apse
from the very start. These cycles must have drawn upon
a great variety of earlier sources, refiecting the whole
range of Graeco-Roman painting. The heritage of the
past, however, was not only absorbed but transformed so
as to make it fit its new environment, physical and spir-
itual. Out of this process, there emerged a great new art
form, the Early Christian wall mosaic, which to & large
extent replaced the older and cheaper technique of mural
painting. Mosaics——designs composed of small pieces of
colored material set in plaster—had peen used by the
Sumerians as early as the third millennium B.C. to embel-
lish architectural surfaces. The Hellenistic Greeks and
273. Section, Sta. Costanza, Rome the Romans, employing small cubes of marble called
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Doctrinale fidei. Though a Carmelite cult
has developed around him, he has never
been formally canonized,

NEUMANN, JOHN NEPOMUCENE
(1811-60). Born at Prachatiz, Bohemia,
on March 28, the third of six children of
Agnes and Philip Neumann, he was
early attracted to the religious Jife, en-
tered the diocesan seminary of Budweis
in 1831, and two years later the archiepis-
copal seminary at Prague University.
Unable to be ordained because of a sur-
Plus of priests in Bohemia, he went to
the United States in 1836, was ordained
in New York later the same yecar, and
devoted the next four years 1o mission-
ary work, especially among German-
speaking Catholics, in upstate New
York. In 1840, he joined the newly ¢s-
tablished branch of the Redemptorists at
St. Philomena’s in Pittsburgh and be-
came the first Redemptorist to take his
Yows in the United States, in 1842, He
continued his missionary activities in
Maryland, Ohio, Pennsylvania, and Vir-
ginia, became rector of S, Philomena’s
in 1844, and was named vice regent and
' superior of the Amecrican Redemptorists
in 1847, He was consecrated fourth
bishop of Philadelphia in 1852 and reor-
ganized the diocese, inangurating a wide-
spread program of pew church and
school building. He was an active propo-
nent of Catholic education, and two cat-
echisms he wrote were endorsed by the
American bishops at their first Plenary
Council in 1852 and were widely used in
Catholic schools the next thirty-five
years. At the time of his dealh in Phila-
delphia on January 5, he was renowned
for his holiness, charity, pastoral work,
and preaching. He was canonized in

1977 by Pape Paul VI, the first Ameri- |
can male saint,

T —— ———
NEVOLO. Sce Novellone, Bl,

NEWDIGATE, BL. SEBASTIAN (d.
1535). Born at Hareficld Place, Middle-
sex, England, he studied at Cambridge
and became a member of King Henry
VIIT's court and privy councellor. On the
death of Bl. Sebastian's wife in 1524, he
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irm of Shattuck & Hussey, architects based in New Jersey. After working
akroad, not only in China, but in Malaya, for several years, Dunn returned
hiladelphia in 1927 and worked with Ritter & Shay. When that
ership was dissolved, he continued with Versus T. Ritter {(qg.v.)
through 1938. Thereafter he worked for the Bendix Aviation Corporation
from 131 to 1946 and the Portable Products Corp. of Newburgh, N.Y. from
1945 to 46, He retired in 1954, and at the time of the publication of
's American Architects Directory in 1962, Dunn was residing
PA.

Dunn was™an emeritus member of the national AIR and also a member of
the Eastern Penngylvania Chapter of the AIA,

LIST OF PROJECTS:
1912 Home Service Gadqge, Broad St. & Rockland Ave., Phila.

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY: llace, Philip B., Colonial Churches and Meeting
Houses, Pennsylvania, New ¥ersey and Delaware. NY: 1931; Wallace,
Philip B., Colonial IronworR\in 01d Philadelphia: The Craftsmanship of
the Early Days of the Republi NY: 1930; Xoyl, p. 184; UPA Gen. Alumni
Cat. (1817), p. 259, st

DuPCNT, VICTOR, JR. (1852 - 1911).
appears in Philadelphia only briefly™Nn partnership with Charles Henry
Roney (g.v.). He cannot have been much, of an architect, and he never
actually moved to Philadelphia. The sonm\of a prominent Wilmington lawyer
and banxer, duPont wmarried in 1880 (the yeéar his partnership with Roney
ended} and became, according to Marquis Jam®g, the first "oramental Vice
President created in the DuPont corporate hiekarchy." Perscnally he is
described as "fat, ambitious and lazy."

Victor DuPont, Jr., of Delaware

LIST OF PROJECTS: See Roney, Charles Henry, for R
projects.

ey & DuPont

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY: Bateman, Thomas H., DuPont and AI'Ned Families

(New York, 1965), p. 8; James, Marqguis, Alfred I. DuPont: The Family
Rebel (Indianapolis: 1941), p. 178. rm
-

DURANG, EDWIN FORREST (4/1/1829 - 6/12/1911). Edwin F. Durang was born
in a prestigious family of professional actors and performers. His
grandfather, John Durang (1768-1822), was credited with being the first
native-born American actor; and his father and uncle, Charles and Richard
Ferdinand Durang were the first to perform the "Star Spangled Banner." In
later years Charles Durang (1791-1870) worked as director and prompter at
both the Chestnut Street and the American Theatres in Philadelphia. After
his retirement in 1853, he taught dancing and wrote several books
regarding dancing as well as a history of the Philadelphia stage. By 1865
Edwin F. Durang was listed in the Philadelphia city directories as an
architect with an office at 304 Vine Street. 1In 1857 he was noted at 417
Market Street, and it is in this year that he began working for John E.
Carver (g.v.), veteran residential and ecclesiatical architect. Upon
Carver's death in 1859, Durang succeeded him in the firm, retaining the
office at 21 North 6th Street until 1880. Following Carver's example,
Durang also specialized in ecclesiatical design, most notably
thosechurches and institutions associated with the Catholic Church. In
November, 1909, Durang was joined in the firm by his son, F. Ferdinand
Durang (g.v.), who succeeded him in 1911. The Durang firms represent one
of the most successful enterprises specializing in Catholic church
architecture in Philadelphia, only rivalled in the later nineteeth and
early twentieth centuries by the dynasty of architects sired by Henry D.
Dagit {(g.v.).

Edwin F. Durang was a member of the Franklin Institute.
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St. Patrick's Ch., parochial res., Phila.

Phila. Bd. of Public Ed., Curtin Schl., sw 20th & Catharine sts.,
Phila.

Phila. Bd. of Public Ed., Douglas Schl., sw Huntingdon &
Browne sts., Phila.

Phila. Bd. of Public Ed.,
Phila.

Our Mother of Sorrows Ch.,
Ave., Phila.

St. Johannais Lutheran Ch., ch., 15th & Ogden sts., Phila.

Arch 5t. Opera Hse., 1003-1005 Arch St., Phila.

St. James the Greater Ch., rectory & schl., 38th & Chestnut sts.,
Phila.

5t. Mary's Ch., Wilkes-Barre,

Phila. Bd. of Public Ed.,
6th St., Phila.

St. Andrew's Ch., 135 §. Sycamore 8%t., Newtown,

Pittson Opera Hse., Pltitson, PA (attributed)

5t. Stephen's Luth. Ch., sw corner of So. Duke & Church sts.,
Lancaster, PA {(attributed)

Sacred Heart Ch., 1406-1418 S.

St. Charles Borromeo Ch., 20th & Christian sts., Phila.

St. Agnes Heosp., 1200 S. Broad St., Phila. (with Frank Watson)

Grace Bapt. Ch., Mervine & Berks sts., Phila. (completion only)

Qur Lady of the Angels, Glen Riddle, Pa

5t. Joseph Ch., St. Joseph St., Lancaster, PA

$t. Patrick's Schl., 242 S. 20th St., Phila.

St. Francis Ch., alts. & adds., Nanticoke, PA

Cottages (2), U.S. Ave., Atlantic City, NJ

Eagle Hotel, alis. & adds., Lebanon, PA

Keystone State Normal Schl., new bldg., Xutztown, PA

Little Sisters of the Poor, bldgs., Fullerton & Sheffield aves.,
Chicago, IL

Phila. Bd. of Public Ed., Cahill Schl., Broad & Race sts.,

Reading Academy of Music, 5th St., Reading, PA

Schuylkill Seminary, Fredericksburg Academy, Lebanon Co., PA

Northeast Schl,, nw Crown & Race sts.,

ch. & schl. bldgs., 4B00-4814 Lancaster

PA

Paxson Schl., Buttonwood St., e. of

PA

3rd St., Phila.

Phila.

St. John's Orphan Asyium, alts. & adds., West Phila.

St. Joseph's Ch., Ashland, PA

St. Joseph's Protectorate, alts. & adds., Norristown, PA

St. Monica's Ch., Atlantic & California aves., Atlantic City, NJ
St. Peter's Ch. Mission, Reading, PA

Store, Locust abv. 2nd St., Columbia, PA

Beneficial Saving Fund Soc., 1202 Chestnut St.,
Carpenter, C., res., Merion, P2

Jesuit College, 17th, 18th, Thompson & Stiles sts., Phila.

Phila.

(demolished)

Little Sisters of the Poor, alts. & adds., Wingohocking Sta., Gtn.,
Phila.

Our Lady of visitation Ch., schl., scuth side of Lehigh Ave., bet.
Front, 2nd St., Phila.

Res., n. of 58th S8t., east of Hoffman St., Phila.

Schl., Chestnut Hill Ave., bet. Perkiomen Tpke. & Norwood St., Phila-

St. Bridget's Ch., schl., Falls of the Schuykill, Phila.,

St. James Ch., 3728 Chesntut St., Phila.

8t. Vincent de Paul Ch., pastoral res.,
Phila.

Cheatwood Hotel, Atlantic City, NJ

Factory (picture frame), alts., 6th & Arch St., Phila.

Hse. of the Good Shepherd, alts. & adds., 50th & Pine sts., Phila.

Merchants Insurance Co., alts. & adds., sw corner of 5th & Walnut
sts., Phila.

Phila. Art Club competition (lost te F.M. Day)

Price St., n. of Evans St.,
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St. Edwards Ch., convent, York St., bet. 4th & 8th sts., Phila.

St. Joseph's Hosp., alts. & adds., 17th St. & Girard Ave., Phiia.

5t. Thomas Acgquinas College, nr. Scranton, PA

5t. Vincents Home, 19th & Wood sts., Phila.

Academic bldg., Glen Riddle, PA

Ch., Lenni, PA

Convent Hse., Glen Riddle, PA

Hse. of the Good Shepherd, 36th St. & Fairmount Ave., Phila.

Maternity Hosp. & St. Vincent's Hse., 70th St. & Woodland Ave.,
Phila.

Keystone State Normal Schl., wing bldg., Kutztown, PA

Res., Haverford Ave., bel. 3%th St., Phila.

Schl. & convent, Pheonixville, PA

St. Aloysius Ch., Norristown, PA -

St. Charles Borromeo, alts. & adds., Kellyville, Pa

5t. John's Evangelical Ch., Pittson, PA

St. Joseph's Ch., Easton, PA

Wash hse., 18th & Wood sts., Phila.

Nativity Ch., Allegheny Ave. & Belgrade St., Phila.

Our Lady of Mercy Ch., chapel, 2141 N. Broad St., Phila.

R.C. Ch., Carbondale, PA

Schl., alts. & adds. Woodland Ave., Phila.

St. Laurentius Ch., Berks & Memphis sts., Phila.

St. Mary's Ch., PheonixvilTe, PA

5t. Mary's Hosp., n.p-«

St. Nicholas Ch., tennessee & Pacific aves., Atlantic City, NJ

St. Patrick's Ch., Pottsville, PA

Store, l6th & Walnut sts., Phila,.

Nativity Ch., schl., Belgrade & Wellington sts., Phila.

OQur Lady of Mercy Ch., parochial res., Broad S$t., s. of Susquehanna

. Ave., Phila.

Philopatrian Literary Institute, 12th St. bel. Locust $t., Phila.

R.C. Chapel, Crum Lynn, PA

R.C. Chapel, Cheltenham, PA

R.C. Chapel, Norwood, PA

Sisters of Notre Dame, chapel, Walnut Hill, Cincinpati, OH

St. Michael's Ch., schi. & pastor res., 2nd & Jefferson sts., Phila.

Visitation Ch., convent chapel, Mobile, AL

Immaculate Heart Convent, chapel, Villa Maria, West Chester, PA

Keystone State Normal schl., central bldgs., Kutztown, PA

Little Sisters of the Poor, alts. & adds. to hosp. & home, 18th &
Jefferson sts., Phila.

Laundry, Chestnu® Hill, Phila.

Our Mother of Sorrows Ch., alts. & adds., 4800-4814 Lancaster Ave.,
Phila.

R.C. Ch., parochial res., Cheltenham, PA

R.C. Ch., pastoral res., Bryn Mawr, PA

Sacred Heart Chapel, Mobile, AL

Sisters of Mercy, convent, Merion, PA

Sisters of Mercy, chapel & add. to present home, Merion, PA

St. Augustine Ch., schl., Ford & Rainbow sts., Bridgeport, PA —

St. John's Ch., Lambertville, NJ ~

St. Thomas' T.A.B. Society, hall, Lancaster Ave., Rosemont, PA

St. Veronica's Ch., schl. & parochial bldg., 2nd & Butler sts.,
Phila.

Our Lady of Mercy, schl., Park & Susquehanna aves., Phila.

Parish res., West Chester, Pa

R.C. Chapel, Wayne, Pa

St. Anthony's R.C. Ch., schl. & hall, Lancaster, PA

St. Anthony's R.C., pastoral res., Lancaster, PA

St. Charles Borromeo, convent, 2lst & Christian sts., Phila.

St. Francis Xavier, 2323-27 Green St., Phila.
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St. Katherine Ch., parochial res., Wayne, PA

Dooner's Hotel, alts. & adds., lOth bel. Market St., Phila.

Mt, S5t. Joseph, alts. & adds., 18th & Vernon sts., Phila.

Nativity Ch., Allegheny Ave. & Belgrade $t., Phila.

Sisters of St. Francis, academy, Glen Riddle, PA

Sisters of St. Francis, hosp., Trenton, NJ

St. Ann's Ch., parcchial hse., Memphis & Lehigh aves., Phila.

5t. Bonaventura German Ch., pastoral res., Hutchison St., Phila.

St. Bonaventura Ch., ch. & attached parochial res., 9th & Cambridge
sts., Phila.
homas Ch., schl., 18th & F%rnon sts., Phila.

St. gronica's ch., 17th & Ritner sts., Phila.

All Saints' Ch., superstructure, ne corner Buckius & Thompson sts.,
Bridesburg, PA

Hamills, the Misses, pair of stores, 4202-4 Lancaster Ave., Phila.

Qur Lady of Mercy, ch., Broad & Susgquehanna Ave., Phila.

R.C. Ch., Italian parochial schl., Marriott St. bel. 8th St., Phila.

St. Agatha's Ch., new chapel, boiler hse. & cooking schl., 38th &
Spring Garden sts., Phila.

St. Agnes Hosp., Trenton, NJ

S5t. Ann's Ch., schl., Cedar & Tucker sts., Phila.

3t. Columbia Ch., Lehigh aAve. & 23rd St., Phila.

S5t. Francis Xavier Ch., 24th & Green sts., Phila.

S5t. Joseph's Ch., schl., 10th & Liberty sts., Camden, NJ

St. Mary's Ch., alts. & adds., Eaglestown, PA

St. Monica's Ch., pastoral res., 17th & Ritner sts., Phila.

St. Nicholas' Ch., Pacific & Tennessee aves., Atlantic City, NJ

St. Peter's Ch., alts. & adds., 5th & Girard Ave., Phila.

St. Vincent's Seminary, boiler hse., Cedar La. & Woodbine Ave.,
Gtn., Phila.

Higgins, I.H., twin residences, 4645 Lancaster Ave., Phila.

LaSalle College, alts. & adds., Broad & Thompson sts., Phila.

Notre Dame Academy, alts. & adds., Rittenhouse Square, Phila.

Our Lady of Good Counsel Ch., Pennswood Rd,, Bryn Mawr, PA

Sisters of 8t. Francis Convent, Glen Riddle, P2

St. Agnes' Hosp., stable, 15th & Mifflin =ts., Phila.

St. Peter Clavier Ch., rectory, 502 S. 12th St., Phila.

St. Veronica's Ch., rectory, 6th & Tioga sts., Phila.

Irwin, James I., ves., Broad & McKean sts., Phila.

Sisters of Mercy, stable & fowl-hse., Merion, PA

St. Columbia's Ch., parish schl., 23rd $t. & Lehigh Ave., Phila.

5t. Gabriel's Ch., pastoral res., 29th & Dickinson sts., Phila.

St. John's Ch., alts. & adds., Hazelton, PA

St. John's Ch., convent, Pittston, PAa

Trinity College for Women, Washington, D.C.

Visitation Schl., alts. & adds., Front St. & Lehigh Ave., Phila.

Augustinian Brothers, college bldg., Villanova, PA

Ch., Beach Haven, NJ

Gesu Ch., schl., 18th & Stiles sts., Phila.

O'Neill, Charles, alts. & adds. to cottage, Pacific & Illinois aves.,
Atlantic City, NJ

St. Agnes Hosp., alts. & adds., Broad & Mifflin sts., Phila.

St. Paul's Ch., schl., Christian bel. 10th St., Phila.

Mt. st. Joseph's Academy, normal schl. bldg., Chestnut Hill, Phila.

St. Mary's Ch., Order of the Holy Ghost, parish & schl. Cornwall
PA

St. Michael's Ch., alts. & adds., 2nd & Jefferson sts., Phila.

St. Francis Assisi Ch., Logan & Green sts., Phila.

St. Nichelas Ch., 1409 Pacific Ave., Atlantic City, NJ

Sisters of Mercy, ch., Merion, Pa i
St. Mary Magdalene de Pozzi Ch., tower & cupola,ﬁﬁ%3§§%e St. bel.
8th St., Phila. % TVl
vy




Biographical Dictionary of Philadelphia Architects 233

gt. Monica's Ch., 17th & Ritner sts., Phila.
.8t. Thomas Bcquinas Ch. & rectory, 1616 S. 17th St., Phila.
St. Agatha's Ch., new altar, 38th & Spring Garden sts., Phila.
St. Mary's Hosp., alts. & adds., Frankford Ave. & Palmer St., Phila.
Gt. Nicholas Ch., convent, Jefferson & State sts., Passaic, NJ
1902 St. Denis Ch., rectory, Havertown, PA
8t. Gapbriel's Ch., 1432-1448 S. 2%th St., Phila.
1903 Sisters of Mercy Convent, laundry bldg., Merion, P&
" 8t. Thomas Acguinas Ch., int. finishing, 17th & Morris sts., Phila.
Trinity College, art gallery, Washington, DC
1904 Convent, add., 1422 Moyamensing Ave., Phila.
Mater Misericordia Convent, new wing, chapel and connections, Merion,
PA
Our Mother of Consolation Ch., res., 11 W. Chestnut Hill Ave., Phila.
St. Agnes Hosp., isolation ward bldg., Broad & Mifflin sts., Phila. _
_ st. Thomas Ch., L/th & Morris sts., Phila. DEDICATLEDN
1905 St. Paul's Ch., schl., Christian above 9th St., Phila.
1906 Sisters of Notre Dame, schl., Ft. Lee, NJ
St. Francis Xavier ch., rebuilt after fire, 24th & Green sts., Phila.
gt. Francis Xavier Ch., alts. & adds. to parish hse., 2321 Green 5t.,
Phila.
St. Gabriel's Schl., Dickinson & 30th sts., Phila.
St. Monica's Ch., schl., Ritner & Bouvier sts., Phila.
1907 Catholic High Schl., alts. & adds., Broad & Vine sts., Phila.
St. Monica's Ch., convent, 17th & Ritner sts., Phila.
St. Nicholas Ch., parochial schl. & clergy hse., Atlantic City, NJ
1908 Holy Angels Collegiate Institute, Ft. Lee, NJ
St. Mary Magdalena Ch., Millville, NJ
Trinity College, add., Washington, D.C.
Villanova College, engineering bldg., Villanova, PA
E. F. Durang & Son:
1909 Durang, E.F., res., Overbrook, Phila.
Rectory, Green & Logan sts., Gtn., Phila.
St. Agatha's Ch., parochial res., 38th & Spring Garden sts., Phila.
St. Francis of Assisi Ch., n.p.
St. Gabriel's Ch., alts. & adds., 1432-1488 S. 2%th St., Phila.
8t. Joseph's College, Phila.
St. Veronica Ch., 533 W. Tioga St., Phila. (dedication)
1910 Catholic Home for Destitute Children, 29%9th & Allegheny Ave., Phila.
Convent and schl., 55th & Cedar Ave., Phila.
Factory bldgs., River Ave. & State St., Camden, NJ
Holy ¢hild Ch., 5200-5228 N. Broad St., Phila.
St. Mary's Ch., Waterford, NY
1911 st. Monica Ch., rectory, 2422 S. 17th St., Phila.
Sts. Peter & Paul Ch., schl., Trenton, NJ
Transfiquration of Our Lord Ch., schl. & convent, 55th & Cedar sts.,

Phila.
: NOTE: Although E. F. Durang died in 1911, his son continued to use the
A complete firm name until 1920:
1912 Cathedral Convent, alts. & adds...to convent, 18th & Wood sts.,
Phila.

Immaculate Conception Ch., ch. & rectory, Bridgeton, NJ
Monahan Hosp., 1920 Race St., Phila.
Monahan Hosp., alts. & adds. to hosp., 1920 Race St., Phila.
: Sisters of Mercy, stable, Carlisle St. & Columbia Ave., Phila.
i St. Agatha's Ch., alts. & adds., 38th & Spring Garden sts., Phila.
: St. Gabriel's Schl., alts. & adds., 2925 Dickinson $t., Phila.
St. Jdoachim's Ch., tower, Church & Franklin sts., Phila.
St. Margaret's Ch., Narberth, PA
1913 Immaculate Conception, ch. & rectory, Bridgeton, NJ
1914 Assumption Ch., convent & rectory, 12th & Spring Garden sts., Phila.
Blessed Virgin Ch. & schl., Upper Darby, PA
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ter-the Apostie was founded at Filth Street and Girard

In 18472, Saint Pel
Avenug, 10 provide @ national parish for German Catholics fiving north of

the city. Likewise, in 1849, Saint Mary of the Assumption was founded to
serve the growing German population in the area of panayunk, along the
cast hank of the Schuylkill River. Other parishes reflected the growth of
5 of the county. Roth Saint Stephen

Catholic communities i outlying area
ent (1851 in Germantown

(founded 1843) in Nicetown, and Saint Vinc
were founded 10 serve settlements of rail olg workers. In 18

Saint Joachim was founded in Frankford, and m%q%nmw::m in Port richmond.
In 1849 Saint Dominic was founded in Holmesburg—near the Bristol Canal

ps—and in 1850, Saint James of a8t Street became the

and railroad cam
Rishop Kenrick

fiest parish in West Philadelphia. During his time as bishop,
established pwenty-Six parishes in Philadeiphia and outlying areas.

at, although parishes were officially founded
k& of buitding the parish church rested
shes were blessed by the
to the construction

It is important 1o remember th
by the decree of the hishop, the wor
on the people and their pastors. Many pari
of a few wealthy indivicduals who contributed

of the church and parish buildings. Most parishes in this era, however,
n the steady commitment of ordinary people t0 raise maney and
urch a reality. Parishioners who were
artisans and craftsmen often took part in construction, and the architecture
and decoration of parish churches bear witness to the cultural heritage of
their people. Many parishes Were, in a real sense, built upon the nickels
and dimes, and the prayers and labors of faithful umzm:._o:mﬂm.

generosity

relied 0
organize labor to make a beautiful ch

.Nl..rm growth of the Church in the United States changed the focus of
: “religious practices: from the Individual in the home o organized
..”.nm<o~mc=m..nh..~rm -parish level. A number of groups known S
.H..n.o::n_ﬁa.n.m.m were established in the 1830s and 1840s, lo promote
devotion to the Blessed: Sacrament, the Immaculale Heart of Mary

”.M.E.m..._m.n%:__”aﬁm:n.Emﬁomaaﬁ There was even d group known as the-

‘Confraternityfor d Good Deuth.

The Society forthe propagation of the Faith was established in the diocese
:ﬂm..mq%..ﬁmmom. to .m.n.uvowﬂ_.@.m.m_.anm.n.mm. The Sodality for the Conversion
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Defending

Pittshurgh. On January 6, 1842, he professed his vows in Baltimore, the
first member of his Congregation to be professed in the United States. in
March 1844, he was named superior of the Redemptorist foundation in
Pittsburgh, and served in that position for two years before returning to
Baltimore as Vice-Provingcial and pastor of Saint Alphonsus Church.

Since Father Neumann’'s German background would appeal to the
significant German population of the diocese, Archbishop Kenrick
considerad this immigrant priest an ideal candidale to be Bishop of
Philadeiphia. The humble Father Neumann wanted no part of this plan,
and tried to get his appointment blocked. Nonetheless, he was appointed
Bishop of Philadelphia on February 1, 1852, He was ordained a bishop
on March 28—his forty-first birthday—in Saint Alphonsus Church,
Baltimore. Two days later, when he arrived in Philadelphia, the new bishop
asked the priests who came out to meet h m to use the money set aside
for a celebration in his honor to build a new Catholic school.

Bishop Neumann

Bishop Neumann continged Bishop Kenrick's policy of liturgical,
sacramental and administrative reform, convoking diocesan synads in
1853, 1855 and 1857 He decreed that the Litany of the Blessed Virgin
Mary be sung in parish churches on all Sundays and holy days before the
principal Mass, and that Vespers, the evening prayer of the Church, be
celebrated on Sunday. Bishop Neumann was particularly interested in

the Faith

religious instruction, and passed statutes organizing the religious
instruction of students preparing to receive the sacraments. He
established the Confraternity of Christian-“octrine in every parish to
further the cause of religious education, and set up the diocesan Society
for the Propagation of the Faith.

Bishop Neumann kept a watchful eye on affairs at Saint Charles Seminary.
He spent a great deal of time at the seminary, and personally instructed
seminarians in pastoral theology. He added several courses of study to
the curriculum, expanded the program to six years, and arranged for
seminarians 1o use the facilities of Saint Joseph's College (located near
Oid Saint Joseph's Church! for science courses. Bishop Neumann was
greatly disappoeinted when the Vincentian priests who staffed the seminary
were forced to withdraw in 1852 because they did not have a sufficient
number of priests available for the work, He invited the last Vincentian
rector, Father Thaddeus Amat, C.M,, to accompany him to the First Plenary
Council in Baltimore in May 1852. At the Council, Father Amat was
nominated as Bishop of Monterey, California.

Perhaps Bishop Neumann's most significant contribution to the seminary
was the establishment of a preparatory or “minor” seminary for younger
students. He felt that vocations would be increased, and education for the
priesthood more effective, if training for the priesthood started at an
carlier age than the usual eighteen or twenty years. In 1858, he purchased
the former Ashton Ridge Female Academy in Glen Riddle, Delaware

THE CAMP HILL DISASTER

n lhe morning of July 17, 18506 the first of lwo excursion trains pulled out

from Master Street Station, its len cats filled with nearly 700 children and
their chaperones from St, Michael's parish in Kensington. The young people
and their pasloy, Father Daniel Sheridan, were on an ouling to the counlry, in
the area of Fort Washingfon, Montgomery Counly.

The line to Fort Washinglon was a single lrack—if « frain was coming in the
opposite direclion, the engineer would puil off onio a “siding™ to allow if fo pass.
Standard practice required outbound trains running behind schedule to pull off
and wait for the inbound train from Gwynedd to pass on its way fo Philadelphia.
Although the St. Michael's irain was running 35 minules lale, the engineer
ignored the rule about WE::Q off, and lried irstead to make up the time.

At Camp Hill, just outside Fort Washington, the two trains collided on a blind
cwrve, The two engines hit head-on with such force that both rose on end and
crashed onlo their sides. The first three cars of the excursion train were smashed

to pieces, and burning coals from the engine box set other cars on fire,

Local residents rushed to the sile to lend assistance and pull survivors from the
burning wreck. Among them a Qualker woman named Mary Ambler played a
prominen! role. The Reading Railroad was so grateful that they named the
nearby Wissahickon Station after her. In 1869, the Villuge of Wissahickon was
incorporated as the Borough of Ambler

When news of the disaster reached Philadelphia around 9:60 a.m., crowds
flocked to the train station. A relief train carrying dociors and nurses, including
Sisters of Chatrily, rushed to the scene, wilh frantic parenis hanging from the
side. A convoy of wagons, carls and any other available means of transportation
made its way up Germaniown Pilie to the crash site.

When the fires were extinguished and the victims recovered from the shallered
carriages, 59 people were dead, including Father Sheridan and 47 young
people, aged 9 to 21—the worst train tragedy in the world o that date.
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Over its 200-year history, tke Archdiccese of Philadelphia has been blessed with the presence and prayerful ministry
of consecrated virgins and henmils, more than 80 communities of women, and neerly 40 communities of men.

Religious Communities of Wornen
* Adrian Dominican Sisters
+ Armenian Sisters of the Immaculate
Conception
* Bernardine Sisters of the Third Order
" -of Saint Francis
* Carmelite Sisters for the Aged and
Infirm
* Comboni Missionary Sisters
-+ Congregation of the m,mﬁmz of the Holy,
Cross
* Corpus Christi Carmelite Sisters
* Daughters of Charity of Saint Vincent
de Paut
* Daughters of Mary of the Immaculate
Conception
* Daughters of Saint Mary of Providence
* Daughters of Saint Paul
* Daughters of the Divine Redeemer
* Daughters of the Heart of Mary
* Daughters of the Mos: Holy Redeemer
* Discalced Carmelite Nuns )
* Dominican Sisters of Hope
* Dominican Sisters of Our Lady of the
Rosary of Fatima
* Dominican Sisters of Saint Omﬁminm :
de Ricci
* Dominican Sisters of the Third Order
* Dominican Sisters, Coagregation of
Saint Rose of Lima - ‘
» Franciscan Sisters of Allegany, New .
York
* Franciscan Sisters of the Martyr Saint
George
* Grey Nuns of the Sacred Heart
* Handmaids of the Sacred Heart of
Jesus
* Ladies of the Sacred Heart
* Los Dames de la Retraite
* Little Servant Sislers of the
Immaculate Conception
» Little Servants of the Holy Family of .
Seoul
» Litfle Sisters of the Assumption

* Little Sisters of the Holy Family

- # Little Sisters of the Poor

+ Little Workers of the Sacred Heart

* Medical Mission Sisters .

* Missionaries of Charity

* Missionary Franciscans of the
Immazulate Conception

* Missionary Servants of the Most
Blessed Trinity

" » Missionary Sisters of Our Lady of the

Holy Rosary

* Missionary Sisters of the Most Sacred

Heart of Jesus

* Missionary Sisters of the Precious
Blood:

* Missionary Sisters of the Sacred Heart
of Jesus

* Missionary Sisters of the Third Order
of Saint Francis

* Missicnary Sisters of Verona

. » Oblate Sisters of Providence

* Oblate Sisters of Saint Francis de
Sales :

“* Order of the Visitation of Holy Mary

* Poor Clare Nuns

* Poor Sarvants of the Mother of God

* Religious of the Assumption-

» Religious Teachers Filippini

*-School Sisters of Notre Dame

* School Sisters of the Third Order of
Saint Francis

* Servarts of the Lord and the Virgin of
Matara

* Sister Servants of the Holy Spirit of
Perpetual Adoration

* Sister Servants of the Most Sacred
Heart of Jesus .

* Sisters of Bon Secours

* Sisters.of Charity of Nazareth

* Bisters:of Charity. of the Blessed Virgin
Mary : ) )

+ Sisters of Christian Charily:

* Sisters of Jesus Crucified

* Sisters.of Mercy of the Americas

work in religious education from his brother, Bishop Peter Kenrick of
St. Louis, and invited them to the Archdiocese of Philadelphia in 1845.
As the parochial school system grew quring Bishop Neumann's
administration, he continued to invite congregations of Sisters to carry out

the work of teaching Catholic youth.

b%f The Sisters, Servants of the Immaculate Hea-t of Mary—often known as
the "LH.M. Sisters” after the initials used after their names-had been
founded in 1845 in a log cabin in Monroe, Michigan. Father Louis Gillet,
C.55.R.—a Redemptorist like Bishop Neumann—assisted three women, led

+ Sisters of Notre Dame de Namur

+-Sisters of Our Lady of Charity of the
Good Shepherd

* Sisters of Our Lady of Mercy

* Sisters of Saint Basil the Great

* Sisters of Saint Casimir

* Sisters of Saint Felix of Cantalice
(Felicians)

+ Sisters of Saint Francis of Assisi

+ Sisters of Saint Francis of Philadelphia -

* Sisters of Saint Joseph of Cluny

* Sisters of Saint Joseph of Philadelphia

* Sisters of Saints Cyril and Methodius

* Sisters of the Blessed Sacrament

* Sisters of the Catholic Apostolate
(Pallotines)

* Sisters of the Divine Compassion

* Sisters of the Divine Redeemer

* Sisters of the Holy Cross

* Sisters of the Holy Family of Nazareth

* Sisters of the Holy Redeemer

* Sisters of the Most Holy Crucified

* Sisters of the Most Holy Trinity

+ Sisters of the Third Order of
Saint Augustine

* Sisters, Servants of the Immaculate
Heart of Mary (Immaculata)

* Sisters, Servants of the Immaculate
Heart of Mary (Scranton)

'+ Society of the Holy Child Jesus

* Third Order Franciscans of the
Immacuiate Conception

- » Ursuline Sisters of the Iimmaculate

Conception
* Vietnamese Sisters-of the Holy Rosary

liginus Communities of

* Brothers of Charily

+ Brothers of the Christian Schools HUo
‘La Salle Christian Brothers)-

* Carmelite Fathers

* Catholic Foreign Mission mon_mx\ of
- America {Maryknoll)

¢+ Columban Fathers

* Congregation of the Holy Cross

* Congregation of the Holy Spirit

* Congregation of the Mission
(Vincentians)

* Congregation of the Most Holy
Redeemer {Redemptorists)

* Immaculate Heart of Mary Mission
Society

+ Institute of the Incarnate Word

* Legionaries of Christ

+ Liltle Brothers of the Good m:mw:ma

* Marianists .

* Marist Fathers

+ Missionaries of Africa

* Missionaries of Our Lady of La Salette

» Missionaries.of the Blessed Sacrament

» Missionaries of the Sacred Heart

* Missionary Servants of the Most Holy
Trinity

* Norbertines (Canons Regular of
Premontre)

* Oblates of Saint Francis de Sales

* Order of Friars Minor

» Order of Friars Minor Conventual

* Order of Friars Minor, Capuchin

* Order of Preachers (Dominicans)

» Crder of Saint Augustine

* Order of Saint Paul the First Hermit

* Order of the Blessed Virgin Mary of
Mercy (Mercecdarians)

,* Order of the Most Holy Trinity

* Order of the Pious Schools {Piarists)

* Passionists

= Philadelphia Congregation of the
Oratory of Saint Philip Neri

+ Saint Joseph's Society of the Sacred
Heart (Josephites)

+ Servants of Charity

* Society of Brother Servants of the Holy
Spirit

* Society of Jesus (Jesuits)

* Third Order Regular of Saint Francis

* Third Order Regular of Saint Francis of
Penance

to the apostolate of Catholic education. In 1858, Bishop Neumann invited
the Sisters to staff Saint Joseph’s School, Susquehanna, near Scranton. In
1859, the Sisters established a school at Saint Peter's in Reading, Berks
County, where they also built a motherhouse for the community in
Pennsyivania. In 1872, the motherhouse was transferred to West Chester,

Chester County,

Bishop Neumann also founded a new religious community. During his

———e—

visit to Rome in 1855, he had spoken with Pope Pius IX about inviting a
religious order to Philadelphia to care for orphans and the sick, and_the
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with the religious habit. One year later they made their profession in the
hishop's chapel as the Sisters of the Third i
m@;m,"mn_m_m.ﬂm. Following a Rule that Bishop Neumann composed for them,

they began their_ministry by visiting the sick and. founding a shelter for
homeless girls. These Sisters would become prominent in the diocese by

teaching in parish schools and Egb@%ﬁ

Appointment of a Coadjutor Bishop

During his tenure as bishop, Bishop Neumann came under increasing
criticism. No one doubted his holiness, but some were critical of his
administrative abilities, especially in light of the debt that existed on
diocesan property. Other criticism, on a more personal level, came from
clergy who resented synodal legislation concerning finances, church
property, and the transfer of responsibility for Saint John the Evangelist
Church to the Jesuits.

Aware of the criticism, and feeling out of place in Philadelphia,
Bishop Neumann suggested a division of the diocese and his transfer to
the northern counties as Bishop of Pottsville. The bishops who received
his suggestion at the Eighth Provincial Council, which met in Baltimore in
May 1855, did not favor dividing the diocese. They did recommend,
however, that Bishop Neumann be given an assistant. Two years later,
Father James Wood was named coadijutor bishop of Philadelphia.

Few people would have expected James Frederic Wood, born in
Philadelphia on April 27, 1813, to become the bishop of his native city.
The Wood family belonged to the Unitarian Church, in which James
practiced during his childhood. When he was fourteen years old, his
family moved to Cincinnati, Ohio where he began a career in finance. He
became friendly with the Archbishop of Cincinnati, John Purcell, who

instructed him in the Catholic faith and, in 1838, received him into the .

Catholic Church. A year later James Wood expressed an interest in the
priesthood, and was sent to Rome to study theology. After his ordination
on the solemnity of the Annunciation (March 25, 1844), he returned to
Cincinnati, to serve as pastor of Saint Patrick’s Church. Pope Pius IX
appointed him Coadjutor Bishop of Philadelphia on February 17, 1857,

With his background in banking, Bishop Wood was placed in charge of
the temporal affairs of the diocese, including completion of the Cathedral.
He also celebrated Confirmation within and beyond the City of
Philaclelphia, thus freeing Bishop Neumann to make visitations to rural

authority to make decisions.

Fortunately, there was not a conflict like that between Bishop Conwell and
Bishop Kenrick. Bishop Wood recognized Bishop Neumann's spiritual gifts
and greatly admired him. Bishop Neumann was grateful for the relief
Bishop Wood gave him from the responsibilities of temporal
administration, and was sympathetic to Bishop Wood's feelings of
frustration. At the Ninth Provincial Council of Baltimore in 1858,
Bishop Neumann again proposed a division of the diocese, offering to go
to a new diocese in Easton and ieave Bishop Wood to become Bishop of
Philadelphia. The Holy See delayed the decision until the next Plenary
Council could meet in Baltimore.

Death of Bishop Neumann

On January 5, 1860, Bishop Neumann was returning from the post office

on a task typical of his personality. He was checking on the status of a
chaiice that had been sent to him by a priest in Bellefonte, Centre County,
to be consecrated, and which had been lost in transit. On his way home,
he collapsed on an icy sidewalk in front of a house at 1218 Vine Street. He
was carried inside where he soon died. He was forty-eight years of age.

On January 9, Bishop Neumann's body was placed in the Cathedral
chapel, where it was visited by thousands of mourners. A lengthy
procession made its way from the chapel to Saint John the Evangelist
Church—the pro-cathedral—for the funeral Mass, during which
Archbishop Francis Kenrick preached the homily. Bishop Neumann's body
was then taken to Saint Peter's Church where he had asked to be buried

with his fellow Redemptorists.

The Diocese of Philadelphia had experienced a great deal of turmail in the
years thal Bishop Wood had lived in Cincinnati. As Bishop of Philadelphia,
however, Bishop Wood found himself at the head of a Catholic community
that had emerged stronger from those difficult years. Philadelphia
Catholics had fought to defend the faith that their parents had planted,
and paid for it with hardship and sacrifice. Now Catholics in Philadelphia
were able to hand on that faith to children and grandchildren who
gathered in beautiful places of worship and attended Catholic schools that
were a model for the nation. Much of this was the fruit of the efforts of
Bishop Wood's saintly predecessor. [t was likewise a testament to the
new members of the flock—immigrants like their bishop—who banded
together to preserve the heritage of faith that had been entrusted to them.
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